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Part I

Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Information

Vital Images desires to take advantage of the �safe harbor� provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (the �Reform
Act�) and is filing this cautionary statement in connection with the Reform Act. This Annual Report on Form 10-K and any other written or oral
statements made by or on our behalf may include forward-looking statements that reflect our current views with respect to future events and
future financial performance. Certain statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are �forward-looking statements� within the meaning of
Section 27(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. You can identify these forward-looking
statements by our use of the words �believes,� �anticipates,� �forecasts,� �projects,� �could,� �plans,� �expects,� �may,� �will,�
�would,� �intends,� �estimates� and similar expressions, whether in the negative or affirmative. We wish to caution you that any
forward-looking statements made by us or on our behalf are subject to uncertainties and other factors that could cause such statements to be
wrong. We cannot guarantee that we actually will achieve these plans, intentions or expectations. Actual results or
events could differ materially from the plans, intentions and expectations disclosed in the forward-looking statements
that we make.  These statements are only predictions and speak only of our views as of the date the statements were
made. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we
cannot guarantee future results, levels of activity, and/or performance of achievements.  We do not assume any
obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements that we make, whether as a result of new information,
future events or otherwise.

Factors that may impact forward-looking statements include, among others, our abilities to maintain the technological
competitiveness of our current products, develop new products, successfully market our products, respond to
competitive developments, develop and maintain partnerships with providers of complementary technologies, manage
our costs and the challenges that may come with growth of our business, and attract and retain qualified sales,
technical and management employees. We are also affected by the growth and regulation of the medical technology
industry, including the acceptance of enterprise-wide advanced visualization by hospitals, clinics, and universities,
product clearances and approvals by the United States Food and Drug Administration and similar regulatory bodies
outside the United States, and reimbursement and regulatory practices by Medicare, Medicaid, and private
third-party payer organizations. We are also affected by other factors identified in our filings with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, some of which are set forth in the section entitled �Item 1A.Risk Factors� in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K (and many of which we have discussed in prior filings). Although we have attempted to list
comprehensively these important factors, we also wish to caution investors that other factors may prove to be
important in the future in affecting our operating results. New factors emerge from time to time, and it is not possible
for us to predict all of these factors, nor can we assess the impact each factor or combination of factors may have on
our business.

Item 1. Business

Our Business

Vital Images, Inc. (�Vital Images,� �we,� �us,� or �our�) is a leading provider of enterprise-wide advanced visualization and image analysis solutions for
use by medical professionals in clinical analysis and therapy planning for medical conditions. We provide software, training, software
maintenance, professional services and, on occasion, third-party hardware to our customers. Our technology rapidly transforms complex data
generated by diagnostic imaging equipment into functional digital images that can be manipulated and analyzed using our specialized
applications to better understand internal anatomy and pathology. Our solutions are designed to improve physician workflow and productivity,
enhance the ability to make clinical decisions, facilitate less invasive patient care, and complement often significant capital investments in
diagnostic imaging equipment made by our customers. Our software is compatible with equipment from all major manufacturers of diagnostic
imaging equipment, such as computed tomography, or CT, magnetic resonance, or MR, and positron emission tomography, or PET, scanners,
and can be integrated into picture archiving and communication systems, or PACS. Many hospitals use PACS to acquire, distribute and archive
medical images and diagnostic reports, reducing the need for film and increasing reliance on advanced visualization solutions such as ours. We
also offer a Web-based solution that provides physicians with anywhere, anytime access to medical images and visualization tools through any
Internet-enabled computer.
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We were founded and incorporated in Iowa in September 1988, and we re-incorporated in Minnesota in March 1997. Our principal executive
offices are located at 5850 Opus Parkway, Suite 300, Minnetonka, MN 55343
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(telephone (952) 487-9500, facsimile (952) 487-9510, e-mail � info@vitalimages.com ). From May 24, 1994 through May 11, 1997, we were a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Bio-Vascular, Inc., which is now known as Synovis Life Technologies, Inc.

Our corporate website address is www.vitalimages.com. In the �SEC Filings� category of the �Investors� section of our website, we make our
Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, other reports and documents filed with or
furnished to the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the �SEC�) and amendments to these reports available free of charge as soon
as reasonably practicable after such reports are filed with or furnished to the SEC. The �Corporate Governance� category of the Investors
section of our website also contains free copies of the Charters for the Audit Committee, Compensation Committee, and Governance Committee
of our Board of Directors, as well as our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, which is our written code of ethics under Section 406 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Each of the above referenced documents can also be obtained free of charge (other than a reasonable charge for
copying exhibits to our reports on Forms 10-K, 10-Q or 8-K) in print by any shareowner who requests them from our investor relations
department. The investor relations department�s email address is investorrelations@vitalimages.com and its mail address is: Investor Relations,
Vital Images, Inc., 5850 Opus Parkway, Suite 300, Minnetonka, MN 55343. Information available on our website is not
incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

You may also obtain copies of our SEC filings on the SEC�s website at www.sec.gov or at the SEC�s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street N.E.,
Washington, D.C. 20549. You may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330.

Vitrea®, our flagship software product, is an easy-to-use, intuitive, high-speed volume rendering technology that creates interactive
two-dimensional, or 2D, three-dimensional, or 3D, and four-dimensional, or 4D, images from information generated by standard CT, MR or
PET scanners. Vitrea is commonly deployed on standalone workstations, using standard computer hardware, and provides advanced
visualization for radiological, cardiac, oncological and surgical applications. Vitrea renders vibrant, clear, color images at high speeds and
enables users to interactively navigate within these images to visualize, measure and understand internal structures and disease conditions. We
believe our user interfaces are intuitive, and they are specifically configured to assist physicians in optimizing their clinical workflow.

We recently introduced VitreaACCESS�, which provides physicians remote access to the full suite of advanced visualization and analysis tools
provided by Vitrea software. It offers a cost effective solution designed to enable users to leverage workstations by allowing secure access to
Vitrea applications from any personal computer in a facility or from external locations through a virtual private network, or VPN.

ViTALConnect®, our Web-based solution, allows multiple physicians to collaboratively use enterprise-wide advanced visualization in their
medical practices. It provides radiologists and referring physicians anywhere, anytime access to interactive 2D, 3D and 4D medical images and
the ability to measure, rotate, analyze and segment those images. Our latest release includes features previously available only on multimodality
workstations, such as a variety of multi-planar reformat, or MPR, modes, thick slab rendering in MPR, 3D volumetric visualization with simple
point of interest navigation, 4D dataset visualization, CT/PET fusion and advanced analysis tools.
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We also offer enterprise-wide advanced visualization options that can expand the relevance of our products beyond the radiology department to
referring physicians and surgical specialists, particularly in the areas of cardiology, cardiovascular, oncology, neurology and gastroenterology.
Our advanced visualization options allow physicians to customize their Vitrea software according to their unique requirements. Most options are
proprietary; however, Vitrea also serves as an integration platform for the applications offered by our visualization technology partners. Vitrea�s
add-on options include:

Vitrea Option Clinical Use
•VScore �Quantify calcium in the four major coronary arteries

•CT Brain Perfusion �Analyze the blood flow of stroke victims

•Innerview GI (virtual
colonoscopy)

�Locate and analyze polyps in the colon

•Automated Vessel
Measurements

�Characterize the course and dimensions of diseased blood vessels

•CT Cardiac �Determine the extent of obstructive coronary artery disease

•Vessel Probe �Define vascular anatomy and the extent of obstruction in vessels other than the coronary arteries

•CT Lung and Lung Tools �Visualize and measure nodules in the lungs

•ImageChecker® CT �Detect pulmonary nodules in the chest

•Fusion7D� �Visualize images and fuse studies from multiple modalities, such as MR and PET

•CADstream� �Analyze MR breast exams

•QMass� MR �Analyze MR cardiac images

•SUREPlaque� �Aid in evaluating, characterizing and quantifying plaque inside the coronary arteries

Our software solutions are used with medical diagnostic equipment, primarily in clinical analysis and therapy planning. Our software applies
proprietary technologies to a variety of data supplied by CT, MR and PET scanners to allow medical clinicians to create 2D, 3D and 4D views of
human anatomy and to non-invasively navigate within these images to better visualize and understand internal structures and pathologies. We
market Vitrea and ViTALConnect both as standalone software packages and as part of integrated software and hardware systems to radiologists,
surgeons, primary care physicians and medical researchers. Our main customers are hospitals and clinics, university medical schools, and
diagnostic imaging companies. We market our products and services to these customers both directly through our own sales force and indirectly
through digital imaging equipment manufacturers and PACS companies, who sell our products with products they either manufacture or acquire
from third parties.

Our products work with equipment from all major manufacturers of diagnostic imaging systems, including Toshiba Medical Systems
Corporation, GE Medical Systems, Siemens Medical Systems, Inc. and Philips Medical Systems. Our products may also be integrated into
PACS, such as those marketed by McKesson Corporation, Sectra AB and DR Systems, Inc. and run on off-the-shelf third party computer
hardware manufactured by companies such as Dell, Inc. and Hewlett-Packard Company.

Maintenance and Support

In addition to system and software products, we market maintenance and support services, as well as certain other services, such as installation
and training. In connection with licensing Vitrea and ViTALConnect software, we offer annual maintenance and support services for both Vitrea
and ViTALConnect pursuant to which we provide software updates, minor feature enhancements, error correction, telephone support and other
general support services. Our maintenance and support services do not include installation, training and other services, whether on- or off-site,
which can be purchased separately.

Market Opportunity

We believe the expansion in the number and complexity of medical imaging examinations associated with CT scanners creates a substantial
opportunity for us in the radiology market. Historically, imaging equipment generated comparatively low amounts of image data that was
typically viewed using film. However, current generation CT and MR scanners are capable of quickly generating as many as 10,000 discrete
images, or slices, in a single imaging exam, which is more than 20 times as many images as were generally attained in exams as few as five
years ago. This substantial data output cannot be analyzed in a timely or cost-effective manner using film or manual workflow
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and necessitates digital solutions capable of handling these large data sets efficiently and accurately. Radiologists, who are in short supply,
require advanced visualization solutions that can quickly render 2D, 3D and 4D images to improve their productivity.

The cardiology market represents a significant and relatively new market opportunity for us. Although radiologists have historically used our
cardiology and cardiovascular applications, cardiologists are beginning to own and operate their own CT scanners. Advancements in technology
now allow cardiologists to perform non-invasive diagnostic imaging procedures that were previously done invasively in a cardiac catheterization
clinic. This growing interest among cardiologists in cardiac CT imaging procedures expands our potential end-user market. In addition to
cardiology, we believe other clinical specialties are increasingly using advanced visualization and analysis tools to improve productivity and
facilitate less invasive patient care, including neurology, women�s health, respiratory and pulmonary, and gastrointestinal.

We also expect to benefit as medical images are increasingly used throughout the healthcare enterprise and in new, innovative ways. Once
considered the domain of radiologists, images are now being used by referring physicians to educate patients, plan treatment and monitor patient
progress. Physicians also use imaging technology on an increasing basis in connection with their review of possible patient medical conditions
such as lung or colon cancer. This shift has created demand for advanced visualization solutions that can be accessed by physicians throughout
the enterprise. We facilitate enterprise-wide advanced visualization by distributing images and certain analysis tools directly using
ViTALConnect and VitreaACCESS�, which allow remote access to Vitrea�s toolset, as well as through our ability to integrate with PACS.

We believe the following factors together have increased the demand for our products and will continue to drive market growth in the future:

•  increasing number of imaging exams performed due to the expanded use of CT imaging procedures by
physicians and an aging U.S. population;

•  technological advancements enabling CT and MR scanners to generate thousands of images per exam;

•  demand from radiologists and referring physicians for enterprise-wide advanced visualization solutions that
can improve productivity, optimize clinical workflow and enhance treatment planning;

•  increasing use of imaging technology in departments outside of radiology, in part due to the integration of
advanced visualization with PACS; and

•  growing importance of integrating advanced visualization and analysis tools into the clinical enterprise to
facilitate collaboration among physicians, increase access to information and improve workflow productivity.

Strengths

One of our key competitive differentiators from other advanced visualization providers is our focus on, and investment in, developing intuitive,
user-friendly software. Each of our software products is designed to automate common elements of physician visualization workflow, which
makes our software simple to use and facilitates user adoption. We believe our optimized workflow automation is an important factor that
customers consider when choosing our advanced visualization solutions. We believe that the following additional competitive strengths also
contribute to our success:

•  our compatibility with all major diagnostic imaging scanners and with most PACS and clinical enterprise
software;

•  our ability to render integrated 2D, 3D and 4D images at high speeds and with interactive navigation
capabilities using a relatively low-cost standard computer;

•  our modular products for digital equipment manufacturers, PACS vendors and end-user customers that can
easily be segmented or integrated depending on the environment; and

•  our ability to distribute our applications throughout a healthcare enterprise using floating licenses, PACS
integration and a Web-based solution.
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The advanced visualization market is highly competitive and subject to rapid change. Our products compete based on quality, performance,
functionality and features, quality of support and service, reputation, brand and price. Our primary competitors include diagnostic imaging
equipment manufacturers, which are typically large, multinational companies with greater financial and technical resources. These companies,
including GE Healthcare, Siemens Medical Systems, Inc. and Philips Medical Systems, develop and market imaging equipment that may be
purchased
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with integrated visualization capabilities. We also face competition from PACS vendors, which may provide visualization capabilities in
addition to their image archiving and networking products. Other advanced visualization suppliers, such as TeraRecon, Inc., compete on the
basis of visualization technologies, specific applications or market niches.

Strategy

Our goal is to be a leading provider of enterprise-wide advanced visualization and image analysis solutions that we believe can improve clinical
outcomes and reduce costs. To achieve this goal, we intend to implement the following key strategies:

•  develop and maintain leading-edge, enterprise-wide advanced visualization technology;

•  increase penetration of our existing customer base;

•  further expand our presence in the enterprise-wide advanced visualization market either selling directly or
through PACS integration;

•  continue to build our international direct sales and marketing efforts;

•  continue to seek collaborative partnerships with leading medical technology companies; and

•  selectively pursue strategic acquisitions.

Marketing and Distribution

We market Vitrea and ViTALConnect both as standalone software packages and as part of integrated software and hardware systems to
radiologists, surgeons, primary care physicians and medical researchers. We market our products directly to end-user customers and through
several business partners, including diagnostic imaging equipment manufacturers, PACS companies, and software developers, all of whom sell
our products with products they either manufacture or acquire from third parties.

Our marketing partners include Toshiba Medical Systems Corporation (�Toshiba�), which markets Vitrea to its customers through its subsidiaries
and distributors in more than 50 countries throughout the world. Our agreement with Toshiba commenced in 2001, and it has been extended by
amendment three times, most recently through December 31, 2006. Sales through Toshiba are a material portion of our revenues, comprising
approximately 41% of our 2006 revenues, 47% of our 2005 revenues, and 50% of our 2004 revenues. We also have a joint distribution
agreement with McKesson Corporation (�McKesson�), a primary provider of PACS, under which each company has been granted the right to
distribute the other party�s products. Sales through McKesson represented approximately 10% of our 2006 revenues, 7% or our 2005 revenues,
and 2% of our 2004 revenues. See �Item 1A. Risk Factors - Dependence on Major Customers.�

We also have marketing and reseller agreements with several other companies, such as Emageon, Inc., Cerner Corp., DR Systems, Inc. and
Eclipsys, Inc., under which these companies will resell our products to their customers as add-on components to their products.

We license software and sell products and services to end-users and also indirectly through original equipment manufacturers, value-added
resellers and independent distributors. Payment terms for the resellers do not generally differ from those we provide to end users. See Note 9 to
the Financial Statements, �Major Customers and Geographic Data,� for information regarding our export sales. As of December 31, 2006, we had
48 salespeople in the U.S., two salespeople in Europe, one salesperson supporting national accounts, and one salesperson supporting our
international resellers outside of Europe.

Collaborative Relationships

We have formed collaborative relationships with some of the leading universities and physicians in medicine and medical imaging to develop
what we believe to be the most innovative and clinically relevant medical imaging solutions. We have entered into clinical collaboration
agreements with universities and physicians to:

•  identify new clinical applications where noninvasive imaging software can improve clinical outcomes and
reduce costs;
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•  assist in the development of clinical routines that incorporate our clinical solutions in normal diagnostic and
therapy planning practices;

•  consult in the development of new features that facilitate and improve analysis and therapy planning for our
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future products;

•  assess the clinical value of our clinical solutions for given applications; and

•  develop automated clinical protocols for CT or MR data.

Competition

The enterprise-wide advanced visualization and analysis market is developing and growing rapidly. It is intensely competitive, subject to rapid
change and significantly affected by new product introductions and other market activities of industry participants. Our primary competitors are
diagnostic imaging system suppliers, which are typically large, multinational companies with far greater financial and technical resources. They
also have well-established sales and distribution networks for their products. These companies, including GE Medical Systems, Siemens
Medical Systems, Inc., and Philips Medical Systems, develop and market medical imaging systems, such as CT and MR equipment, which
may be purchased with integrated medical imaging capabilities. Our software works on the products offered by each of these companies. To win
business against equipment manufacturers, we must convince customers to buy our solution separately from their purchase of imaging
equipment instead of buying integrated systems from our competitors.

We also face competition from PACS vendors and other suppliers of medical imaging systems and software. PACS companies sometimes
provide medical imaging capability in addition to their image archiving and networking products. Vendors of hospital, clinical and radiology
information systems have also diversified into the PACS and medical imaging product lines, either through internal development or business
development and partnership channels. These companies, which may be large or small, attempt to offer an integrated system covering a full
range of administrative, clinical and radiology information management capabilities to healthcare providers. Other suppliers of medical imaging
systems and software, such as TeraRecon, Inc., compete on the basis of volume rendering or other visualization technologies, specific
applications or market niches.

Our competitive strength is based on several factors, including our ability to do the following:

•  provide differentiated solutions that operate in multi-vendor network and image source environments;

•  provide clinical quality, integrated 2D, 3D and 4D images, volume rendered at high speed with interactive
navigation on a relatively low-cost standard computer;

•  build user interfaces that are easy for physicians and clinicians to use so that they do not need to be advanced
technology experts to derive value from enterprise-wide advanced visualization analysis and solutions;

•  integrate clinical knowledge from our collaborative clinical partners into our products;

•  leverage our visualization and analysis technology across multiple clinical disciplines;

•  offer a �DICOM client� product, which can operate on any network conforming to the Digital Imaging and
Communications in Medicine (DICOM) standard, independent of the imaging system and network provider;

•  serve original equipment manufacturers (OEMs), PACS vendors and end-user customers through the
development of a modular end-user product that can easily be segmented for OEM customers or integrated into a
PACS environment; and

•  offer our market-leading clinical applications into the broadening clinical enterprise through Web-based
deployable solutions.

We believe that product quality, performance, functionality and features, quality of support and service, reputation, brand and price are also
important competitive factors. We believe that customers will prefer our solutions because they are the best-in-class productivity tools for
doctors. Although price has been less significant than other factors, increasing competition in the market may result in price reductions and
reduced gross margins. In particular, if one or more of the diagnostic imaging system suppliers, with their greater size and scale, provides or
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distributes more competitive medical imaging products than ours, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially
adversely affected.

Customers and Customer Support

Through December 31, 2006, we had sold approximately 3,800 separate software licenses for Vitrea and ViTALConnect for use in hospitals and
teaching hospitals, clinics, and imaging centers, both in major cities as well as in smaller population areas.

We are committed to rapid response to customer service requests. Customer support representatives are available
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during business hours and on an on-call basis to answer questions about the operation, maintenance and repair of our products.

Intellectual Property

We rely primarily on a combination of trade secret and copyright law, employee and third-party nondisclosure agreements and other protective
measures to protect intellectual property rights pertaining to our products and technologies. We also have a growing portfolio of patents for our
technology. Because of the rapid pace of technological change in the medical software industry, we believe that the knowledge, ability and
experience of our personnel; new product developments and enhancements; and ongoing, reliable product maintenance and support will enhance
our competitive position.

We do not own all of the software and other technologies used in our products, but we believe we have the necessary licenses from third parties
for using that technology in our current products. It may be necessary to renegotiate with such third parties for any new versions of current
products or any new products. Such third party licenses may not be available on reasonable terms, or at all.

Manufacturing and Service

Our manufacturing efforts are limited to the production, quality assurance and distribution of our software, which is distributed on CD-ROM.
After we send software to our customers, it is loaded into a workstation, either by our personnel, personnel from one of our authorized resellers,
or our customers� personnel. If our personnel load the software, it is as part of our installation services. In addition to loading software into the
workstation, our installation services generally include implementation of Vitrea and ViTALConnect software into customers� computer
networks, configuring the network requirements and verifying software operability on site.

We provide training services for our customers, both in connection with their acquisition of our software and as independent purchases.  A
license of one copy of our Vitrea software entitles the customer to place two people at no additional charge in a three-day intensive training
program held at our headquarters in Minnetonka, Minnesota.  We also conduct training programs for our software at customers� locations and at
various designated locations through the United States.  Some customers defer attending training for several months after the purchase of our
software or decline to attend the training. Additionally, we offer standalone training programs, which are separately purchased by customers, for
advanced education in the uses of our software and for specific clinical applications, such as cardiology.

We rely primarily on our own software development as our core competence. We obtain certain application and utility software from third
parties (see ��Intellectual Property� above) and use a third party operating system for integrated computer workstations. In addition, we obtain
systems components, computers and computer peripherals from third party suppliers.

We have also signed reseller distribution agreements that allow us to distribute products from certain third parties. These third party products
include R2 Technology, Inc.�s ImageChecker® CT software applications for the detection of lung nodules; Siemens Molecular Imaging Fusion
7D� software application for the anatomical alignment of two different image data sets from two different types of diagnostic equipment, such as
combining images from CT and PET scanners; Confirma Inc.�s CADstream� breast MRI software; and Medis Inc.�s QMass® MR software.

Governmental Regulation

As medical devices, our software solutions are subject to extensive and rigorous regulation by numerous governmental authorities, principally
the US Food and Drug Administration (�FDA�) and corresponding foreign agencies. In the United States, the FDA administers the Federal Food,
Drug, and Cosmetic Act, its amendments (the �FD&C Act�) and its related regulations. The FD&C Act and these regulations classify medical
devices as Class I, II or III devices, which are subject to general controls, special controls or pre-market approval requirements, respectively.
Most Class I and II devices, as well as some Class III devices, can be cleared for marketing pursuant to a 510(k) pre-market notification. The
process of obtaining a 510(k) clearance typically can take several months to a year or longer.

Class III devices generally require more stringent clinical investigation and pre-market clearance requirements. In such cases, the FDA will
require that the manufacturer submit a pre-market approval (�PMA�) application that must be reviewed and approved by the FDA prior to the sale
and marketing of the device in the United States. The process of obtaining a PMA can be expensive, uncertain and lengthy, frequently requiring
anywhere from one to
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several years from the date of FDA submission, if approval is obtained at all. Moreover, a PMA, if granted, may include significant limitations
on the indicated uses for which a product may be marketed.

Vitrea and ViTALConnect are classified as Class II medical devices and have received marketing clearances from the
FDA as the result of 510(k) pre-market notifications. Specifically, Vitrea, ViTALConnect and the Company�s add-on
options have been cleared to be marketed for use with CT, MR, and PET scanners. Future products, add-on options to
existing software, and expanded claims of efficacy will likely require additional 510(k) pre-market notifications.

There can be no assurance that future FDA review processes will not involve delays or that clearances will be granted on a timely basis. If our
current or future products become classified as Class III devices, they could be subject to a more expensive, uncertain and lengthy approval
process, and approval, if granted, could include significant limitations on the indicated uses for which a product may be marketed.

We are also subject to regulation in foreign countries in which we sell our products. Many of the regulations applicable to our products in such
countries are similar to those of the FDA. Our ability to successfully market and sell our products in foreign markets depends in large part on our
ability to comply with such foreign regulatory requirements. Vitrea software has been Conformitee Europeene (�CE�) marked, indicating
conformance with applicable sections of the Medical Device Directive 93/42/EEC, which allows the products to be marketed in the member
countries of the European Communities.

We are also subject to periodic inspections by the FDA and similar foreign regulatory agencies, whose primary purpose is to audit our
compliance with quality system regulations established by the FDA and other applicable government standards. Regulatory action may be
initiated in response to audit deficiencies or product performance problems. We believe that our manufacturing and quality control procedures
comply with all applicable requirements of the FDA and foreign regulatory agencies in countries in which we sell our products. We have
received and maintain ISO 13485: 2003 Certification.

Medicare and Medicaid laws and regulations may impact the financial arrangements through which we market, sell and distribute our products
and services to patients who are Medicare or Medicaid beneficiaries. Violations of these laws and regulations may result in civil and criminal
penalties, including substantial fines and imprisonment. In a number of states, the scope of these laws and regulations has been extended to
include the provision of services or products to all patients, regardless of the source of payment, although there is variation from state to state as
to the exact provisions of such laws or regulations. In other states and, on a national level, several health care reform initiatives have been
proposed which would have a similar impact. We believe that our operations and our marketing, sales and distribution practices currently
comply with all current applicable fraud and abuse and physician anti-referral laws and regulations.

Third Party Reimbursement and Cost Containment

Our products are purchased primarily by hospitals, clinics, imaging centers and other users that bill various third party payers for the services
provided to the patients. These payers, which include Medicare, Medicaid, private insurance companies and managed care organizations,
reimburse part or all of the costs and fees associated with the diagnostic procedures utilizing our products. The medical imaging services
performed using our software, except for disease screening procedures, are covered by current CPT codes (Current Procedural Terminology, as
defined by the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services). As such, hospitals providing services using our enterprise-wide advanced
visualization solutions can seek reimbursement for such services by using existing approved CPT codes. Medicare and Medicaid reimbursement
for hospitals is based on a fixed amount for admitting a patient with a specific diagnosis. Because of this fixed reimbursement method, hospitals
have incentives to use less costly methods in treating Medicare and Medicaid patients, and they will frequently make capital expenditures to take
advantage of less costly treatment technologies. Often, reimbursement is reduced to reflect the availability of a new procedure or technique and,
as a result, hospitals are generally willing to implement new cost-saving technologies before these downward adjustments take effect. Likewise,
because the rate of reimbursement for certain physicians who perform certain procedures has been and may in the future be, reduced in the event
of changes in the resource-based relative value scale method of payment calculation, physicians may seek greater cost efficiency in treatment to
minimize any negative impact of reduced reimbursement. Any amendments to existing reimbursement rules and regulations that restrict or
terminate the reimbursement eligibility (or the extent or amount of coverage) of medical procedures using our products or the eligibility (or the
extent or amount of coverage) of our products could have a material adverse impact on our business.

In response to the focus of national attention on rising health care costs, a number of changes to reduce costs have
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been proposed or have begun to emerge. There have been, and may continue to be, proposals by legislators and regulators and third party payers
to reduce these costs. There has also been a significant increase in the number of Americans enrolling in some form of managed care plan and, in
addition, many hospitals participate in or have agreements with HMOs (health maintenance organizations). It has become a typical practice for
hospitals to affiliate themselves with as many managed care plans as possible. Higher managed care penetration typically drives down the prices
of healthcare procedures, which in turn places pressure on medical supply prices. This causes hospitals to implement tighter vendor selection and
certification processes by reducing the number of vendors used, purchasing more products from fewer vendors and trading discounts on price for
guaranteed higher volumes to vendors. Hospitals have also sought to control and reduce costs over the last decade by joining group purchasing
organizations or purchasing alliances. We cannot predict what continuing or future impact these practices, the existing or proposed legislation, or
such third party payer measures may have on our future business.

Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (�HIPAA�)

The HIPAA regulations cause our customers to request that we sign �business associate� agreements with them. A �business associate� is a person or
entity that performs certain functions or activities that involve the use or disclosure of protected health information on behalf of, or provides
services to, a covered entity. By law, the HIPAA Privacy Rule applies only to covered entities � health plans, health care clearinghouses, and
certain health care providers. However, most health care providers do not carry out all of their health care activities and functions by themselves.
Instead, they often use the services of a variety of other persons or businesses. The Privacy Rule allows covered providers and health plans to
disclose protected health information to these �business associates� if the providers or plans obtain satisfactory assurances that the business
associate will use the information only for the purposes for which it was engaged by the covered entity, will safeguard the information from
misuse, and will help the covered entity comply with some of the covered entity�s duties under the Privacy Rule. Covered entities may disclose
protected health information to an entity in its role as a business associate only to help the covered entity carry out its health care functions � not
for the business associate�s independent use or purposes, except as needed for the proper management and administration of the business
associate.

Employees

As of December 31, 2006, we had 283 full-time employees, with 100 involved in research and development, 75 in sales and marketing, 58 in
technical support functions and 50 in administrative functions. We believe our relationship with our employees is good.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Discussion of our business and operations included in this annual report on Form 10-K should be read together with the risk factors set forth
below. They describe various risks and uncertainties to which we are or may become subject. These risks and uncertainties, together with other
factors described elsewhere in this report, have the potential to affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows,
strategies or prospects in a material and adverse manner.  New risks may emerge at any time, and we cannot predict those risks or estimate the
extent to which they may affect financial performance. Each of the risks described below could adversely impact the value of our securities. 
These statements, like all statements in this report, speak only as of the date of this report (unless another date is indicated), and we undertake no
obligation to update or revise the statements in light of future developments.

If our Vitrea and ViTALConnect software do not continue to gain market acceptance, our financial results would be adversely affected.

Our success depends on our ability to successfully market Vitrea and ViTALConnect software for clinical use, and on the ability and willingness
of physicians to use enterprise-wide advanced visualization medical imaging software in clinical analysis and therapy planning. The
enterprise-wide advanced visualization software offered by Vitrea and ViTALConnect are alternatives to the conventional methods traditionally
used for viewing medical images in the clinical setting. The acceptance of Vitrea and ViTALConnect by physicians and other clinicians will
depend on our ability to educate those users as to the speed, ease-of-use and other benefits offered by the Vitrea and ViTALConnect systems, as
well as our timely introduction of new features and functions. There can be no assurance that users will prefer advanced visualization and
analysis software solutions over less expensive 2D medical imaging software or that we will succeed in our efforts to further develop,
commercialize and achieve market acceptance for Vitrea and ViTALConnect or for any other product in the clinical setting. Further, most of our
business in markets outside the United States is provided through third parties with whom we have marketing agreements. There can be no
assurance that these third parties will wish to continue our relationships on an indefinite basis or under the same
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terms as the business is currently conducted. Further, we have undertaken efforts to develop direct relationships with customers in markets
outside the United States, we may not be successful in doing so at a sufficient level. The loss of or adverse changes in our relationships with our
third-party business partners, and our failure to establish sufficient direct relationships with customers outside the United States, would have a
material adverse impact on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

A substantial portion of our revenue is derived from sales of our Vitrea software, and any decline in the sales of our Vitrea software would have
a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.

Revenue related to sales of our Vitrea software (which includes software, hardware and maintenance and services) constituted 97% of our total
revenues for the year ended December 31, 2006, 95% of our total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2005, and 94% of our total
revenues for the year ended December 31, 2004. We anticipate that revenue from the sale of Vitrea will continue to account for a substantial
portion of our revenue for the foreseeable future. As such, any decline in sales of Vitrea would have a material adverse impact on our business,
financial condition, and results of operations. Sales of Vitrea could decline for a number of reasons, including the availability of alternative
products that may be, or may be perceived to be, more effective, safer, easier to use or less costly than Vitrea; any reduction or discontinuance of
reimbursement from healthcare payors for procedures using Vitrea; the failure of physicians to adopt Vitrea; or other reasons discussed in these
risk factors.

We presently depend on Toshiba Medical Systems Corporation, or Toshiba, and McKesson Corporation, or McKesson,  for a significant portion
of our total revenues. A reduction in the business from Toshiba could adversely affect our revenues and could seriously harm our business.

A limited number of large customers may continue to account for a significant portion of our revenue during any given period for the
foreseeable future.  One of our principal distribution channels is to sell our Vitrea medical imaging software in connection with medical imaging
equipment sold by Toshiba. Sales to Toshiba accounted for 41% of our total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2006, 47% of our total
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2005, and 50% of our total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2004. Toshiba�s account
receivable represented 41% of the Company�s accounts receivable at December 31, 2006 and 36% at December 31, 2005. Except for our
agreement with Toshiba, we have no long-term purchase commitments from any of our customers or business partners, and we generally make
sales pursuant to individual transactions. Although our agreement with Toshiba has been extended by amendment three times, most recently
through December 31, 2006, and although we are in discussions with Toshiba regarding a further extension, we can provide no assurance that
our agreement with Toshiba will be extended beyond December 31, 2006. We also have a joint distribution agreement with McKesson
Corporation (�McKesson�), a primary provider of PACS, under which each company has been granted the right to distribute the other party�s
products. Sales through McKesson represented approximately 10% of our 2006 revenues, 7% or our 2005 revenues, and 2% of our 2004
revenues. McKesson�s account receivable represented 14% of the Company�s accounts receivable at December 31, 2006. A reduction, delay, or
cancellation of orders from one or more of our significant customers, or our inability to collect accounts receivable from these customers, likely
would have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and operating results.

We are obligated to purchase a minimum volume of product from R2 Technology, Inc., or R2, and the revenue we generate from the sale of the
product has been and could be less than our minimum commitment for the product.

As part of our business, we may offer third party products as components within our products or as optional modules to our products. As a
condition of entering into these agreements, or for other business reasons, the third parties may require us to commit to purchase a certain
volume of their products, irrespective of the amount of their products that we sell to our customers. If we enter into such a volume commitment
with a third party but do not sell a sufficient volume of its products, then we may be required to pay the third party directly for the deficit in
sales. We incurred such an event in the fourth quarter of 2005 and the second quarter of 2006, during which we did not sell a sufficient volume
of our partner R2�s lung nodule computer-aided-diagnosis software product to meet our quarterly purchase commitment under our contract with
R2, resulting in a loss of approximately $410,000 in the fourth quarter of 2005, of which $236,000 was reversed in the first quarter of 2006, and
a loss of approximately $167,000 in the second quarter of 2006. There can be no assurance that we will not have similar deficits in future
quarters under commitments we may have made to R2 or other providers of third party products.

Regarding R2, our commitment was for approximately $414,000 per quarter through the quarter ended March 31, 2006. After March 31, 2006,
the contractual commitments continue through the quarter ended June 30, 2008, but if we do not meet the applicable minimum in any particular
quarter, they may be reduced to the lower of: (i) the quarterly commitment of the preceding quarter multiplied by the percent by which the
revenue we generated in the preceding quarter fell below that quarter�s quarterly commitment, up to a maximum decline of 23%; or (ii) two times
the R2 Lung CAD product revenue generated by R2 during the preceding quarter through all other sales,
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marketing and distribution channels; provided, that if at any time during the remainder of the agreement the quarterly commitment is less than
$414,000 and R2 Lung CAD product revenue for a quarter exceeds $414,000, our quarterly commitment for the next quarter will again be
$414,000, and the quarterly commitment for the following quarters may again be subject to the above adjustment. Additionally, at the end of
every fourth quarter under the R2 agreement, if the aggregate revenue generated under the agreement in the previous four quarters exceeded the
aggregate applicable minimums, the remaining quarterly commitments shall be reduced by the amount of excess divided by the number of
quarters remaining under the agreement. Based on information available to us, R2 had not generated any significant R2 Lung CAD Product sales
through any other sales, marketing and distribution channels, other than sales generated from customers under this agreement.  As a result, the
Applicable Minimum for the quarter ended December 31, 2006 was $0 and the Applicable Minimum for the quarter ending March 31, 2007 is
$0. As of December 31, 2006, the remaining potential aggregate contractual commitment ranges from a minimum of $0 to a maximum of
approximately $2.1 million. The timing of sales of the R2 Lung CAD product and the revenue resulting from such sales is difficult to accurately
forecast. We may not generate sufficient revenue to meet the minimum contractual commitment for any particular quarter, and thus may have to
pay cash to R2 for the deficit. If we foresee that we will not be able to attain the minimum contractual commitment on a continued basis, we may
have to take a larger charge to our earnings, which could be up to the amount of our maximum remaining total commitment.

We depend upon growth in the enterprise-wide advanced visualization market. If that market does not grow as we expect, our business, results
of operations and financial condition will be adversely affected.

The enterprise-wide advanced visualization industry in which we market our products is still developing due to:

•  the fairly recent availability of high-resolution CT, MR and combined CT-PET scanners and
high-performance computers at reduced prices;

•  the recent adoption of industry standards for the generation, transmission and storage of medical imaging
data; and

•  changing medical practices.

Historically, there has been a perception that enterprise-wide advanced visualization was too slow, unresolved or difficult for clinical use. This
perception was due largely to the relatively slower processing speed of available workstations and the reality that true volumetric acquisition was
not previously available. We believe that recent advances in scanner acquisition resolution, increasing affordability of high-performance
computers and the development of industry standards for the generation, transmission, and storage of imaging data will provide opportunities for
substantial growth in the medical software industry. However, given the uncertainties associated with the developing stage of this market, there
can be no assurance that it will continue to develop in the manner we anticipate. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that the enterprise-wide
advanced visualization industry will provide growth opportunities for us and our software products or that our business strategies will be
successful as the industry continues to evolve. Ultimately, if the enterprise-wide advanced visualization industry fails to develop as we expect,
our business, results of operations and financial condition will be materially and adversely affected.

We participate in a highly competitive industry. If we fail to compete effectively, our results of operations and financial condition would be
adversely affected.

We face intense competition in the enterprise-wide advanced visualization industry. We expect technology to continue to develop rapidly, and
our success will depend to a large extent on our ability to maintain a competitive position with our products. Our competitors in the
enterprise-wide advanced visualization industry include large, established manufacturers of CT and MR imaging equipment. Companies such as
GE Healthcare, Siemens Medical Systems, Inc. and Philips Medical Systems typically offer their own enterprise-wide advanced visualization
software and workstations as part of their integrated imaging and scanner systems. Our software works on the products offered by each of these
companies. To win business against equipment manufacturers, we must convince customers to buy our software solutions separately from their
purchase of imaging equipment instead of buying integrated systems from our competitors.

In addition to having a competitive advantage in marketing enterprise-wide advanced visualization tools as an integrated part of their imaging
products, our competitors have significantly greater capital and staffing resources for research and development that are critical to success in the
dynamic enterprise-wide advanced visualization industry, more recognizable brand names, and more well-established marketing and distribution
networks. Although price has been less significant than other factors, increasing competition may result in price reductions and reduced gross
margins. Additionally, we face competition from other entities, such as PACS vendors and developers of
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competitive or ancillary software packages. We may not be able to compete effectively with such manufacturers or competing entities on each or
any particular factor, including price, features and service.

Our products may become obsolete or non-competitive, which would result in reduced revenue and profit margins.

The enterprise-wide advanced visualization market is characterized by rapid innovation and technological change. For example, as scanners
become faster and generate more and more slices, our software must maintain its capability to handle the increased data volumes generated by
the more powerful scanners. We may be unable to compete effectively in the marketplace, and products developed by our competitors may
render our products obsolete or non-competitive. Similarly, our competitors may succeed in developing or marketing products that are viewed as
providing superior clinical performance or are less expensive than our current or future products.

We may make future acquisitions, which may be difficult to integrate, divert management resources, result in unanticipated costs or dilute our
shareholders.

Part of our continuing business strategy is to make acquisitions of, or investments in, companies, products or technologies that complement our
current products, enhance our market coverage or technical capabilities, or offer growth opportunities. Future acquisitions could pose numerous
risks to our operations, including:

•  we may have difficulty integrating the purchased operations, technologies or products;

•  we may incur substantial unanticipated integration costs;

•  assimilating the acquired businesses may divert significant management attention and financial resources
from our other operations and could disrupt our ongoing business;

•  acquisitions could result in the loss of key employees, particularly those of the acquired operations;

•  we may have difficulty retaining or developing the acquired businesses� customers;

•  acquisitions could adversely affect our existing business relationships with suppliers and customers;

•  we may fail to realize the potential cost savings or other financial benefits and/or the strategic benefits of the
acquisitions; and

•  we may incur liabilities from the acquired businesses for infringement of intellectual property rights or other
claims, and we may not be successful in seeking indemnification for such liabilities or claims.

In connection with these acquisitions or investments, we could incur debt, amortization expenses related to intangible assets, large and
immediate write-offs, assume liabilities, or issue stock that would dilute our current shareholders� percentage of ownership. We may not be able
to complete acquisitions or integrate the operations, products or personnel gained through any such acquisition without a material adverse effect
on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We sell our products internationally and are subject to various risks relating to such international activities, which could harm our international
sales and profitability.

During the years ended December 31, 2006, December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004, 15%, 16% and 17% of our total revenues were
attributable to international sales. Toshiba has been the primary source of our international sales. We are also developing direct international
sales and marketing efforts. By doing business in international markets, we are exposed to risks separate and distinct from those we face in our
domestic operations. Our international business may be adversely affected by changing economic conditions in foreign countries. Because most
of our sales are currently denominated in U.S. dollars, if the value of the U.S. dollar increases relative to foreign currencies, our products could
become more costly to the international consumer and therefore less competitive in international markets, which could adversely affect our
profitability. Furthermore, although currently only a small percentage of our sales are denominated in non-U.S. currency, this percentage may
increase in the future, in which case fluctuations in exchange rates could affect demand for our products. Engaging in international business
inherently involves a number of other difficulties and risks, including:
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•  export restrictions and controls relating to technology;

•  the availability and level of reimbursement within prevailing foreign healthcare payment systems;

•  pricing pressure that we may experience internationally;

•  required compliance with existing and new foreign regulatory requirements and laws;

•  laws and business practices favoring local companies;

•  longer payment cycles;

•  difficulties in enforcing agreements and collecting receivables through foreign legal systems;
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•  political and economic instability;

•  potentially adverse tax consequences, tariffs and other trade barriers;

•  international terrorism and anti-American sentiment;

•  difficulties and costs of staffing and managing foreign operations;

•  changes in currency exchange rates; and

•  difficulties in enforcing intellectual property rights.

Our exposure to each of these risks may increase our costs, lengthen our sales cycle and require significant management attention. We cannot
assure you that one or more of these factors will not harm our business.

If our internal control over financial reporting is found to be inadequate, our financial results may not be accurate, raising concerns for
investors and potentially adversely affecting our stock price.

Under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, we are required to evaluate and determine the effectiveness of our internal controls over
financial reporting. We have dedicated a significant amount of time and resources to ensure compliance with this legislation for the year ended
December 31, 2006 and will continue to do so for future fiscal periods. We may encounter problems or delays in completing the review and
evaluation, the implementation of improvements, and the receipt of a positive attestation, or any attestation at all, from our independent
registered public accounting firm. In addition, our assessment of our internal controls may identify deficiencies that need to be addressed in our
internal controls over financial reporting or other matters that may raise concerns for investors and therefore adversely affect our stock price.

We may experience fluctuations in operating results, which may result in volatility in the price of our common stock.

We have in the past experienced, and may in the future experience, significant fluctuations in annual and quarterly operating results. If these
fluctuations occur, they may result in volatility in the price of our common stock. Quarterly revenue and operating results may fluctuate as a
result of a variety of factors that are outside of our control including, but not limited to, the timing of significant orders, the timing of product
enhancements and new product introductions by us or our competitors, the pricing of our products, changes in customers� budgets and
competitive conditions. Our quarterly license and services revenue may fluctuate and may be difficult to forecast for a variety of reasons,
including the following:

•  a significant number of our existing and prospective clients� decisions regarding whether to enter into license
agreements with us are made within the last few weeks or days of each quarter;

•  the size and number of license transactions can vary significantly;

•  our dependence on Toshiba for a significant portion of our revenues;

•  a decrease in license fee revenue may likely result in a decrease in services revenue in the same or
subsequent quarters;

•  clients may unexpectedly postpone or cancel projects due to changes in their strategic priorities, project
objectives, budget or personnel;

•  the uncertainty caused by potential business combinations in the software industry may cause clients and
prospective clients to cancel, postpone or reduce capital spending projects on software;

•  client evaluations and purchasing processes vary significantly from company to company, and a client�s
internal approval and expenditure authorization process can be difficult and time consuming to complete, even after
selection of a vendor;
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•  the number, timing and significance of software product enhancements and new software product
announcements;

•  existing clients may decline to renew support for our products, and market pressures may limit our ability to
increase support fees or require clients to upgrade from older versions of our products;

•  prospective clients may decline or defer the purchase of new products or releases if we do not have sufficient
client references for those products; or

•  we may have to defer revenues under our revenue recognition policies.

We are subject to government regulation, which can result in additional costs or restrict our ability to market our products. 

Our products are subject to regulation by the United States Food and Drug Administration, or the FDA, and by comparable agencies in foreign
countries. In the United States, the FDA regulates the development, introduction, manufacturing, labeling and record keeping procedures for
medical devices, including 3D medical imaging software
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and systems. Our medical devices require clearance or approval by the FDA before they can be commercially distributed in the United States.
Modifications and enhancements to a medical device also require a new FDA clearance or approval if they could significantly affect its safety or
effectiveness or would constitute a major change in its intended use, design or manufacture. The FDA requires every manufacturer to make this
determination in the first instance, but the FDA may review any manufacturer�s decision and may require a new clearance or approval for the
modification if it disagrees with the decision. If the FDA requires us to seek clearance or approval for the modification of a previously cleared
product for which we have concluded that new clearances or approvals are unnecessary, we may be required to cease marketing or to recall the
modified product until we obtain clearance or approval, and we may be subject to significant regulatory fines or penalties, which could have a
material adverse effect on our financial results and competitive position. The process of obtaining marketing clearance from the FDA for new
products and new applications for existing products can be time-consuming and expensive. All of our current products are marketed pursuant to
510(k) pre-market clearance from the FDA. Vitrea and ViTALConnect and our add-on options have been cleared to be marketed for use with CT,
MR and PET scanners. The FDA may not grant clearance with respect to our future products or enhancements, or future FDA review may
involve delays that could adversely affect our ability to market such future products or enhancements. In addition, our future products or
enhancements may be subject to a more lengthy and expensive pre-market approval process with the FDA.

Even if we obtain regulatory clearances and approvals to market a product from the FDA, these approvals may entail limitations on the indicated
uses of the product. Product clearances and approvals by the FDA can also be withdrawn due to failure to comply with regulatory standards or
the occurrence of unforeseen problems following initial approval. The FDA could also limit or prevent the distribution of our products and has
the power to require the recall of such products. FDA regulations depend heavily on administrative interpretation, and future interpretations
made by the FDA or other regulatory bodies may adversely affect us. The FDA may inspect our facilities and operations to determine whether
we are in compliance with various regulations relating to specification, development, documentation, validation, testing, quality control and
product labeling. If the FDA determines that we are in violation of such regulations, it could impose civil penalties, including fines, recall or
seize products and, in extreme cases, impose criminal sanctions.

We market our products both domestically and internationally. International regulatory bodies have established varying regulations governing
product standards, packaging requirements, labeling requirements, import restrictions, tariff regulations, duties and tax requirements. Our
inability or failure to comply with the varying regulations, or the imposition of new regulations, could restrict our ability to sell our products
internationally and could adversely affect our business.

The imposition of requirements under the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, could adversely affect our
business.

The HIPAA regulations cause our customers to request that we sign �business associate� agreements with them. A �business associate� is a person or
entity that performs certain functions or activities that involve the use or disclosure of protected health information on behalf of, or that provides
services to, a covered entity. By law, the HIPAA Privacy Rule applies only to covered entities�health plans, healthcare clearinghouses, and
certain healthcare providers. However, most healthcare providers do not carry out all of their healthcare activities and functions by themselves.
Instead, they often use the services of a variety of other persons or businesses. The Privacy Rule allows covered providers and health plans to
disclose protected health information to these �business associates� if the providers or plans obtain satisfactory assurances that the business
associate will use the information only for the purposes for which it was engaged by the covered entity, will safeguard the information from
misuse, and will help the covered entity comply with some of the covered entity�s duties under the Privacy Rule. Covered entities may disclose
protected health information to an entity in its role as a business associate only to help the covered entity carry out its healthcare functions�not for
the business associate�s independent use or purposes, except as needed for the proper management and administration of the business associate.
These agreements are necessary for us in the normal course of servicing and supporting our products and may require us to incur liabilities if we
disclose protected health information in a manner not allowed under any respective agreement. Our potential liabilities may include
indemnifying our customer against any damages resulting from the disclosure. If we are not willing to or are unable to enter into a business
associate agreement with current and potential customers, such customers may not purchase our products or services, which would have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, or results of operations.
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We are subject to various federal and state �fraud and abuse� laws, and if we are unable to fully comply with such laws, we could face
substantial penalties, which may adversely affect our business.

We are subject to various federal and state laws pertaining to health care fraud and abuse, including the following:

•  the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, which prohibits persons from knowingly and willfully soliciting, offering,
receiving or providing remuneration, directly or indirectly, in cash or in kind, to induce either the referral of an
individual, or furnishing or arranging for a good or service, for which payment may be made under federal health care
programs (such as Medicare and Medicaid);

•  the federal False Claims Act, which prohibits anyone from knowingly presenting or causing to be presented a
false or fraudulent claim for payment to the federal government;

•  the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, which prohibits
executing a scheme to defraud any health care benefit program;

•  the federal False Statements Statute, which prohibits knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing or
covering up a material fact or making any materially false statement in connection with the delivery of or payment for
health care benefits, items or services; and

•  state law equivalents to these federal laws, which may not be limited to government reimbursed items, and
may not contain identical exceptions.

If our past or present operations are found to be in violation of any of the laws described above or the other similar governmental regulations to
which we are subject, we may be subject to the applicable penalty associated with the violation, including civil and criminal penalties, damages,
fines, exclusion from federal health care programs and/or the curtailment or restructuring of our operations. Similarly, if the physicians or other
providers or entities with whom we do business are found to be non-compliant with applicable laws, they may be subject to sanctions, which
could also have a negative impact on us. Any penalties, damages, fines, curtailment or restructuring of our operations could adversely affect our
ability to operate our business and our financial results. The risk of our being found in violation of these laws is increased by the fact that their
provisions are open to a variety of interpretations and are subject to further legal or regulatory change. Any action against us for violation of
these laws, even if we successfully defend against it, could cause us to incur significant legal expenses, fines and other penalties, divert our
management�s attention from the operation of our business and damage our reputation.

The protection of our intellectual property may be uncertain, and we may face possible claims of others.

Although we have received patents and have filed patent applications with respect to certain aspects of our technology, we generally do not rely
on patent protection with respect to our products and technologies. Instead, we rely primarily on a combination of trade secret and copyright law,
employee and third-party nondisclosure agreements and other protective measures to protect intellectual property rights pertaining to our
products and technologies. Such measures may not provide meaningful protection of our trade secrets, know-how or other intellectual property
in the event of any unauthorized use, misappropriation or disclosure. Others may independently develop similar technologies or duplicate our
technologies. In addition, to the extent that we apply for any patents, such applications may not result in issued patents or, if issued, such patents
may not be valid or of value. Third parties could, in the future, assert infringement or misappropriation claims against us with respect to our
current or future products and technologies, or we may need to assert claims of infringement against third parties. Any infringement or
misappropriation claim by us or against us could place significant strain on our financial resources, divert management�s attention from our
business and harm our reputation. The costs of prosecuting or defending an intellectual property claim could be substantial and could adversely
affect our business, even if we are ultimately successful in prosecuting or defending any such claims. If our products or technologies are found
to infringe the rights of a third party, we could be required to pay significant damages or license fees or cease production, any of which could
have a material adverse effect on our business.

We face the risk of product liability claims, and our product liability and errors and omissions insurance coverage may not be adequate to pay
products liability claims, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition.

Our business exposes us to the risk of product liability claims that is inherent in the manufacturing and marketing of medical devices, including
those which may arise from the misuse or malfunction of, or design flaws in, our products. We may be subject to product liability claims if our
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products cause, or merely appear to have caused, an injury. Claims may be made by patients, healthcare providers or others selling our products.
Although we have product liability and errors and omissions insurance that we believe is appropriate, this insurance is subject to deductibles and
coverage limitations. Our current product liability insurance may not continue to be available to us on acceptable terms, if at all, and, if
available, the coverages may not be adequate to protect us against any future product liability claims. Further, if additional products are
approved for marketing, we may seek additional insurance coverage. If we are unable to obtain insurance at an acceptable cost or on acceptable
terms with adequate
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coverage or otherwise protect against potential product liability claims, we will be exposed to significant liabilities, which may harm our
business. A product liability claim, recall or other claim with respect to uninsured liabilities or for amounts in excess of insured liabilities could
result in significant costs and significant harm to our business.

If we fail to attract and retain qualified personnel, our business would be harmed.

We expect to rapidly expand our operations and grow our sales, research and development and administrative operations. This expansion is
expected to place a significant strain on our management and will require hiring a significant number of qualified personnel. Accordingly,
recruiting and retaining such personnel in the future will be critical to our success. There is intense competition from other companies, research
and academic institutions, government entities and other organizations for qualified personnel in the areas of our activities. If we fail to identify,
attract, retain and motivate these highly skilled personnel, we may be unable to continue our marketing and development activities.

If we do not effectively manage changes in our business, these changes could place a significant strain on our management and operations and,
as a result, our business might not succeed.

Our ability to grow successfully requires an effective planning and management process. The expansion and growth of our business could place
a significant strain on our management systems, infrastructure and other resources. To manage our growth successfully, we must continue to
improve and expand our systems and infrastructure in a timely and efficient manner. Our controls, systems, procedures and resources may not be
adequate to support a changing and growing company. If our management fails to respond effectively to changes and growth in our business,
including acquisitions, such failure could have a material adverse effect on our business.

We depend on third-party reimbursement. A reduction or other change in reimbursement from third parties could negatively affect our business.

Our products are purchased by hospitals, clinics, imaging centers and other users, which bill various third-party payers, such as government
health programs, private health insurance plans, managed care organizations and other similar programs, for the healthcare goods and services
provided to their patients. There are currently Current Procedural Terminology, or CPT, reimbursement codes that describe most of the
diagnostic procedures that use our products. However, the amount of reimbursement from third-party payers varies by site of service and
geographic location and is subject to change. Payers may deny reimbursement if they determine that a product used in a procedure was not used
in accordance with established payer protocol regarding cost-effective treatment methods or was used for an unapproved indication. Third-party
payers are increasingly challenging the prices charged for medical services and, in some instances, have put pressure on service providers to
lower their prices or reduce their services. We are unable to predict what changes will be made in the reimbursement methods used by
third-party healthcare payers. Third-party payers may not consider as cost effective the procedures in which our products are used.
Reimbursement for such procedures may not be available or, if available, payers� low reimbursement levels may adversely affect our ability to
sell our products on a profitable basis. In addition, there have been and may continue to be changes and proposals by legislators, regulators and
third-party payers to curb further these costs in the future. For example, the Deficit Reduction Act of 2005, or the DRA, which was signed into
law on February 8, 2006, imposes caps on Medicare payment rates for certain imaging services, including MR and PET, furnished in physicians�
offices and other non-hospital based settings. Under the caps, payments for specified imaging services cannot exceed the hospital outpatient
payment rates for these services. This change applies to services furnished on or after January 1, 2007. The DRA also codifies a reduction in
Medicare payments for certain multiple images performed on contiguous body parts, which was previously established in the 2006 Physician
Fee Schedule final rule. A failure by hospitals and other users of our products to obtain reimbursement from third-party payers, changes in
third-party payers� policies toward reimbursement for procedures using our products, or legislative action could have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Healthcare reform may negatively impact our business.

The levels of revenue and profitability of medical technology companies may be affected by the efforts of government and third-party payers to
contain or reduce the costs of healthcare through various means. In the United States, there have been, and we expect that there will continue to
be, a number of federal, state and private proposals to control healthcare costs. These proposals include legislative, regulatory and other
initiatives and may contain measures intended to control public and private spending on healthcare as well as to provide universal public access
to the healthcare system. If enacted, these proposals may result in a substantial restructuring of the healthcare
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delivery system. Significant changes in the nation�s healthcare system could have a substantial impact on the manner in which we conduct
business and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Changes in or interpretations of accounting rules and regulations, such as expensing of stock options, could result in unfavorable accounting
charges or require us to change our compensation policies.

Accounting methods and policies for business and market practices, including policies regarding expensing stock options, are subject to further
review, interpretation and guidance from relevant accounting authorities, including the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, and the
Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB. For example, we were previously not required to record equity-based compensation charges if
the employee�s stock option exercise price equaled or exceeded the fair value of our common stock at the date of grant. In December 2004 and as
amended in April 2005, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 123 (revised 2004), �Share-Based Payment,� or SFAS
No. 123(R), which requires all equity-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the
financial statements based on their fair values beginning for the year ended December 31, 2006. We adopted SFAS No. 123(R) using the
modified prospective application method under which we apply SFAS No. 123(R) to new awards granted on or after the January 1, 2006 date of
our adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) and to any portion of existing awards that were granted after December 15, 1994 and had not vested by
January 1, 2006. We expect the impact of the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) to be material to our consolidated financial statements. We rely
heavily on stock options to compensate existing employees and attract new employees. Our adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) may cause us to
reduce our reliance on stock options as a compensation tool. If we reduce our use of stock options, it may be more difficult for us to attract and
retain qualified employees. We estimate that equity-based compensation charges in 2007 will be approximately $5.7 million to $6.2 million
before tax, depending on the stock price when new options are granted and the volume and timing of disqualifying dispositions of incentive
stock options, all of which are difficult to predict. These factors could also affect our effective tax rate.

We may issue shares of preferred stock without the consent of our holders of common stock, which could adversely affect the rights of the
holders of our common stock.

Our Articles of Incorporation authorize our Board of Directors, without any action by the holders of our common stock, to establish the rights
and preferences of up to 5,000,000 shares of currently undesignated preferred stock. These shares of preferred stock could possess voting and
conversion rights that could adversely affect the voting power of the holders of the common stock or dilute their ownership rights, and it
may have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of Vital Images. No shares of preferred stock or other senior equity
securities are currently designated, and currently we have no plan to designate or issue any such securities.

We are subject to certain laws and plans which may discourage takeover attempts that could be beneficial for shareholders.

We are subject to anti-takeover provisions of the Minnesota Business Corporation Act. In addition, we have adopted a shareholder rights plan
designed to protect against unsolicited attempts to acquire our company, which expires on April 30, 2007. Our Board of Directors has
determined at this time to not renew our shareholder rights plan or adopt another plan. These measures may deter or discourage takeover
attempts and other changes in control that are not approved by our Board of Directors, and they may have a depressive effect on any market for
our stock. As a result, our shareholders may lose opportunities to dispose of their shares at the higher prices typically available in takeover
attempts or that may be available under a merger proposal. In addition, these measures may have the effect of permitting our current directors to
retain their positions and place them in a better position to resist changes that our shareholders may wish to make if they are dissatisfied with the
conduct of our business.

We have never paid any cash dividends and, therefore, our shareholders� only opportunity to achieve a return on their investment in our
common stock is if the price of our common stock appreciates.

We have not paid cash dividends on our common stock in the past, and we do not intend to do so in the foreseeable future. Consequently, our
shareholders� only opportunity to achieve a return on their investment in our common stock will be if the market price of our common stock
appreciates and they sell their shares at a profit.

Our directors may not be held personally liable for certain actions, which could discourage shareholder suits against them.

As permitted by Minnesota law, our Articles of Incorporation provide that members of our Board of Directors shall
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not be personally liable to our company or our shareholders for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty as a director, with certain
exceptions. These provisions may discourage shareholders from bringing suit against a director for breach of fiduciary duty and may reduce the
likelihood of derivative litigation brought by shareholders on behalf of our company against a director. In addition, our Bylaws provide for
mandatory indemnification of directors and officers to the fullest extent permitted by Minnesota law.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2.  Properties

Our principal office is located in an office building in Minnetonka, Minnesota, where we currently occupy approximately 72,000 square feet
under a lease that expires January 31, 2012. We have the right under our lease to expand into an additional approximately 15,000 square feet in
2009. We also lease small offices in Den Haag, Netherlands, and Beijing, China, for our operations in those countries.

We consider our current facilities adequate for our current needs, but continued growth in headcount and our expansion internationally could
require us to obtain additional space. We believe that suitable additional space will be available as and if needed.

Item 3.  Legal Proceedings

The Company is not engaged in any legal proceedings at this time.

Item 4.  Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

There was no matter submitted to the vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006.
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Part II

Item 5.  Market for Registrant�s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities

The Company�s common stock is quoted on The Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol �VTAL.�  The table below reflects the high and low per
share closing sale prices of our common stock as reported by The Nasdaq Global Market for each of the periods indicated. Such prices reflect
inter-dealer prices, do not include adjustments for retail mark-ups, markdowns or commissions, and may not necessarily represent actual
transactions.

High Low
2006
Fourth Quarter $ 35.98 $ 28.86
Third Quarter $ 31.80 $ 19.80
Second Quarter $ 35.06 $ 21.25
First Quarter $ 34.87 $ 25.85

2005
Fourth Quarter $ 28.17 $ 20.58
Third Quarter $ 22.26 $ 17.42
Second Quarter $ 18.95 $ 14.37
First Quarter $ 16.14 $ 13.60

We have never paid or declared any cash dividends on our common stock and do not intend to pay dividends on our common stock in the
foreseeable future. We expect to retain our future anticipated earnings to finance development and expansion of our business. As of February 28,
2007, there were approximately 7,390 beneficial owners and approximately 794 registered holders of record of our common stock.

Performance Graph

Since June 9, 2003, the Company�s common stock has been quoted on The Nasdaq Global Market (formerly known as The Nasdaq National
Market). From September 29, 2000 through June 6, 2003, the Company�s common stock was quoted on The Nasdaq SmallCap Market (now
known as The Nasdaq Capital Market). The following graph shows changes during the period from December 31, 2001 to December 31, 2006 in
the value of $100 invested in: (1) the Company�s common stock; (2) the CRSP Total Return Index for The Nasdaq Composite; and (3) Nasdaq
Non-Financial Stocks. The values of each investment as of the dates indicated are based on share prices plus any dividends paid in cash, with the
dividends reinvested on the date they were paid. The calculations exclude trading commissions and taxes.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in any of our previous or future filings under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 that might incorporate future filings by reference, including this Annual Report on Form 10-K, in whole or in part, the
following performance graph shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any such filings and shall not otherwise be deemed filed
under such acts.
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12/31/01 12/31/02 12/31/03 12/31/04 12/31/05 12/31/06
Vital Images, Inc. $ 100.00 $ 95.94 $ 191.02 $ 179.14 $ 279.68 $ 372.19
Nasdaq Composite $ 100.00 $ 69.66 $ 99.71 $ 113.79 $ 114.47 $ 124.20
Nasdaq Non-Financial $ 100.00 $ 67.93 $ 101.41 $ 110.11 $ 111.20 $ 120.84
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Item 6.  Selected Financial Data (in thousands, except per share data)

2006(1) 2005(1) 2004(1) 2003(1) 2002(1)
Years ended December 31:
Revenue $ 70,512 $ 51,717 $ 36,122 $ 27,300 $ 21,116
Gross profit 56,302 40,157 25,675 20,229 14,808

Operating expenses 49,371 32,592 (2)25,161 (3)18,294 14,131
Operating income 6,931 7,565 514 1,935 677

Net income $ 6,583 $ 5,801 $ 296 $ 8,462 (4)$ 790

Net income per share-basic $ 0.49 $ 0.47 $ 0.03 $ 0.83 $ 0.09

Weighted average common shares 13,463 12,379 11,632 10,189 8,861

Net income per share-diluted $ 0.46 $ 0.44 $ 0.02 $ 0.71 $ 0.08

Weighted average common shares 14,259 13,283 12,536 11,848 9,822

At December 31:
Working capital $ 162,202 $ 45,604 $ 30,996 $ 31,915 $ 9,219
Total assets $ 219,730 $ 91,151 $ 69,284 $ 53,063 $ 18,827
Long-term debt $ � $ � $ � $ � $ �
Total stockholders� equity $ 190,902 $ 68,789 $ 54,554 $ 44,594 $ 11,721

(1)  Includes equity-based compensation of $5,063, $335, $12, $137 and $18 for the fiscal years 2006, 2005,
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

(2)  Includes a loss on operating lease of $493 related to the Company�s facility move in the first quarter of 2005.

(3)  Includes $1,000 of acquired in-process research and development charge relating to the acquisition of
HInnovation, Inc. in February 2004.

(4)  Includes a net tax benefit of $6,313 resulting from the reversal of the Company�s valuation allowance for its
net deferred tax assets, net of other current year state and federal income taxes.
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Item 7.  Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Executive summary

Vital Images, Inc. (also referred to as �we�, �us� and �our�) continued to achieve significant growth during 2006. Specifically:

•  Total revenue increased 36% to $70.5 million, compared to $51.7 million in 2005.

•  Pretax income increased to $10.3 million, which included $5.1 million of equity-based compensation costs,
compared to pretax income of $8.6 million in 2005, which included $335,000 of equity-based compensation costs.

•  Net income was $6.6 million, or $0.46 per diluted share, which included equity-based compensation costs of
$3.6 million (after tax), compared to net income of $5.8 million, or $0.44 per diluted share in 2005, which included
equity-based compensation costs of $213,000 (after tax).

Our balance sheet continued to strengthen during 2006. Total cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities were $166.0 million as of
December 31, 2006, compared to $49.8 million as of December 31, 2005. Working capital (defined as current assets less current liabilities) was
$162.2 million as of December 31, 2006, compared to $45.6 million as of December 31, 2005.  The increase in cash, cash equivalents and
marketable securities and working capital was due in large part to our recently completed public offering of 3.4 million shares of common stock,
resulting in net proceeds of $97.7 million.

Throughout our history, a significant portion of our revenue has been generated from the U.S. radiology computed tomography, or CT, market.
Going forward, we anticipate a growing contribution from other sources, including international sales, sales from an expanding picture archive
and communication systems, or PACS, market, sales to medical specialists in areas other than radiology, sales of Web-based products and sales
to our growing installed customer base.

Overview

We are a leading provider of enterprise-wide advanced visualization and image analysis solutions for use by medical professionals in clinical
analysis and therapy planning for medical conditions. We provide software, training, software maintenance, professional services and, on
occasion, third-party hardware to our customers. Our technology rapidly transforms complex data generated by diagnostic imaging equipment
into functional digital images that can be manipulated and analyzed using our specialized applications to better understand internal anatomy and
pathology. Our solutions are designed to improve physician workflow and productivity, enhance the ability to make clinical decisions, facilitate
less invasive patient care, and complement often significant capital investments in diagnostic imaging equipment made by our customers. Our
software is compatible with equipment from all major manufacturers of diagnostic imaging equipment, such as computed tomography, or CT,
magnetic resonance, or MR, and positron emission tomography, or PET, scanners, and can be integrated into PACS. Many hospitals use PACS
to acquire, distribute and archive medical images and diagnostic reports, reducing the need for film and increasing reliance on advanced
visualization solutions such as ours. We also offer a Web-based solution that provides physicians with anywhere, anytime access to medical
images and visualization tools through any Internet-enabled computer.

We operate and manage our business as a single business segment � the development and marketing of software and related services for
enterprise-wide advanced visualization and analysis solutions for use by medical professionals in clinical analysis and therapy planning. We
market our products and services through a direct sales force, resellers and independent distributors in the United States and in international
markets. Our common stock is currently traded on The NASDAQ Global Market under the symbol �VTAL.�

Critical accounting policies and estimates

Our discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial statements, which have
been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The notes to the consolidated
financial statements contained in this Annual Report describe our significant accounting policies used in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts
of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could
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differ from those estimates. We continually evaluate our critical accounting policies and estimates.

We believe the critical accounting policies listed below reflect significant judgments, estimates and assumptions used in the preparation of our
consolidated financial statements.

Allowance for doubtful accounts

We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts at an amount estimated to be sufficient to provide adequate protection against losses resulting
from extending credit to our customers. In judging the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts, we consider multiple factors, including
historical bad debt experience, the general economic environment, the need for specific client reserves and the aging of our outstanding
receivables. A portion of this provision is included in operating expenses as a general and administrative expense and a portion of this provision
is included as a reduction of license revenue. A considerable amount of judgment is required in assessing these factors. If the factors utilized in
determining the allowance do not reflect future performance, then a change in the allowance for doubtful accounts would be necessary in the
period such determination has been made, which would impact future results of operations.  As of December 31, 2006, the allowance for
doubtful accounts was $266,000 for gross accounts receivable of $19.9 million.

Deferred taxes

Significant judgment is required in determining the realizability of our deferred tax assets. We must assess the likelihood that our net deferred
tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income, and to the extent we believe that recovery is not likely, we must establish a valuation
allowance. To the extent that we establish a valuation allowance, it must include an expense within the tax provision in the statement of
operations. As of December 31, 2006, the consolidated balance sheet included net deferred tax assets of $10.6 million.

Our methodology for determining the realizability of our deferred tax assets involves estimates of future taxable income from our core business,
the estimated impact of future tax deductions from the exercise of stock options outstanding as of each balance sheet date, and the expiration
dates and amounts of net operating loss carryforwards and other tax credits. These estimates are projected through the life of the related deferred
tax assets based on assumptions which we believe to be reasonable and consistent with current operating results.

Although we had cumulative pre-tax income for financial reporting purposes for the three years ended December 31, 2006, we did not pay any
significant income taxes for that period due to tax deductions from the exercise of stock options as well as our utilization of net operating losses.
In assessing the realizability of our deferred tax assets as of each balance sheet date, we considered evidence regarding our ability to generate
sufficient future taxable income to realize our deferred tax assets. The primary evidence considered included the cumulative pre-tax income for
financial reporting purposes for the past three years; the estimated impact of future tax deductions from the exercise of stock options outstanding
as of December 31, 2006; and the estimated future taxable income based on historical operating results.

After giving consideration to these factors, we concluded that it was more likely than not that the tax loss carryforwards will be realized prior to
expiration and that other tax credits that expire prior to 2010 will not be utilized due to the estimated future tax deductions from the exercise of
stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2006 as well as utilization of tax loss carryforwards. As a result, we have a valuation allowance of
$185,000 as of December 31, 2006 relating to net operating losses and tax credits that expire prior to 2010.

We also concluded that it was more likely than not that the net deferred tax assets of $10.6 million as of December 31, 2006 and the estimated
future tax deductions from the exercise of stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2006 would be utilized prior to expiring. Based on this
conclusion, we will require approximately $53.6 million in cumulative future taxable income to be generated at various times over the next 20
years to realize the related net deferred tax assets of $10.6 million as of December 31, 2006 as well as the estimated future tax deductions from
the exercise of stock options outstanding and in-the-money as of December 31, 2006.

If we adjust either our estimates of future taxable income or tax deductions from the exercise of stock options down, or our stock price increases
significantly without an increase in taxable income, causing us to believe that our deferred tax assets will not be utilized, we may need to
establish additional valuation allowances on our deferred tax assets, which could materially impact our financial position and results of
operations.

Long-lived assets

We review long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be recoverable,
in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (�SFAS�)
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No. 144, �Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.�  Events or changes in circumstances that indicate the carrying
amount may not be recoverable include, but are not limited to, a significant decrease in the market value of the business or asset acquired, a
significant adverse change in the extent or manner in which the business or asset acquired is used, or a significant adverse change in the business
climate. If such events or changes in circumstances are present, the undiscounted cash flows method is used to determine whether the asset is
impaired. Cash flows would include the estimated terminal value of the asset and exclude any interest charges. To the extent the carrying value
of the asset exceeds the undiscounted cash flows over the estimated remaining life of the asset, the impairment is measured using the discounted
cash flows. The discount rate utilized would be based on our best estimate of the related risks and return at the time the impairment assessment is
made.

Our long-lived assets consist of property and equipment of $9.2 million, other intangible assets subject to amortization of $3.2 million and
licensed technology of $90,000 as of December 31, 2006.

Goodwill

We account for goodwill in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 142, �Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.�  Under SFAS No. 142,
goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives are reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired. The first step of the goodwill impairment test, used to identify potential impairment,
compares the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount, including goodwill. We operate as one reporting unit and therefore compare
the book value to the market value (market capitalization plus a control premium). If the market value exceeds the book value, goodwill is
considered not impaired, and thus the second step of the impairment test is not necessary. If our book value exceeds the market value, the second
step of the goodwill impairment test is performed to measure the amount of impairment loss, if any. The second step of the goodwill impairment
test, used to measure the amount of impairment loss, compares the implied fair value of the goodwill with the book value of the goodwill. If the
carrying value of the goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of the goodwill, an impairment loss would be recognized in an amount equal to the
excess. Any loss recognized cannot exceed the carrying amount of goodwill. After a goodwill impairment loss is recognized, the adjusted
carrying amount of goodwill is its new accounting basis. Subsequent reversal of a previously recognized goodwill impairment loss is prohibited
once the measurement of that loss is completed. We completed the annual goodwill impairment assessment as of December 31, 2006, in which
no impairment was identified. Goodwill was $9.1 million as of December 31, 2006.

Agreement with R2 Technology, Inc.

In April 2005, we entered into an agreement with R2 Technology, Inc. (�R2�) to market R2�s lung nodule CAD software product to our customers.
The April 2005 agreement replaced our November 2002 agreement with R2. Under the April 2005 agreement, we committed to provide R2 with
certain minimum quarterly sales (�Applicable Minimums�) from certain R2 lung CAD related products and services (�R2 Lung CAD Products�)
over a 12-quarter period ending June 30, 2008. We will receive a commission based on sales of R2 Lung CAD Products to our customers. To the
extent the quarterly Applicable Minimum is not met, we will pay R2 the difference between the Applicable Minimum and the actual R2 Lung
CAD Product sales achieved.

In the first quarter of 2006, we reversed $236,000 of the $410,000 expense recorded in the fourth quarter of 2005 relating to our agreement with
R2.  In the second quarter of 2006, we recorded a $167,000 expense relating to relating to our agreement with R2.  No such charges or reversals
occurred during the second half of 2006.  As of December 31, 2006, the remaining potential aggregate commitment under this agreement ranges
from a minimum of $0 to a maximum of approximately $2.1 million. Based on information available to us, R2 had not generated any significant
R2 Lung CAD Product sales through any other sales, marketing and distribution channels, other than sales generated from customers under this
agreement.  As a result, the Applicable Minimum for the quarter ended December 31, 2006 was $0, and the Applicable Minimum for the quarter
ending March 31, 2007 is $0. See Note 9 to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion.

The estimated future aggregate Applicable Minimums is a highly subjective determination, and actual results and any changes to estimates could
have an adverse impact on our financial position and results of operations.  We may not generate sufficient sales to meet the minimum
contractual commitment for any particular quarter, and thus we may have to pay cash to R2 for the deficit.  As of December 31, 2006, the
remaining potential aggregate Applicable Minimums ranged from a minimum of $0 to a maximum of approximately $2.1 million.  If we foresee
that we will not be able to attain the minimum contractual commitment on a continued basis, we may have to take a charge to earnings, which
could be up to the amount of the maximum remaining total commitment.  Any future losses would be recorded under SFAS No. 5, �Accounting
for Contingencies,� which requires the amount to be probable and estimable.

25

Edgar Filing: VITAL IMAGES INC - Form 10-K

40



Revenue Recognition

We follow specific and detailed guidelines in determining the proper amount of revenue to be recorded; however, certain judgments affect the
application of our revenue recognition policy. Revenue results are difficult to predict, and any shortfall in revenue or delay in recognizing
revenue could cause our operating results to vary significantly from period to period.

The significant judgments for revenue recognition typically involve whether collectability can be considered probable and whether fees are fixed
or determinable.  Significant judgment is also required when evaluating and assessing revenue recognition relating to our distribution
agreements with original equipment manufacturers, value-added resellers and independent distributors (collectively, �Resellers�). In addition, our
transactions often consist of multiple element arrangements, which must be analyzed to determine the fair value of each element, the amount of
revenue to be recognized upon shipment, if any, and the period and conditions under which deferred revenue should be recognized.  As a result,
if facts and circumstances change that affect our current judgments, our revenue could be materially different in the future.

We recognize revenue in accordance with American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (�AICPA�) Statement of Position (�SOP�) 97-2,
Software Revenue Recognition, as amended by SOP 98-4 and SOP 98-9, as well as Technical Practice Aids issued from time to time by the
AICPA, and SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104. We recognize revenue when it is realized or realizable and earned. We consider revenue
realized or realizable and earned when we have persuasive evidence of an arrangement, the product has been shipped or the services have been
provided to the customer, the sales price is fixed or determinable, and collectability is probable.

Equity-based compensation

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123(R), using the modified prospective transition
method, and therefore have not restated prior periods� results. Under this method, we recognize compensation expense for all equity-based
payments granted on or after January 1, 2006 and prior to but not yet vested as of January 1, 2006 in accordance with SFAS No. 123(R). Under
the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123(R), we recognize equity-based compensation net of an estimated forfeiture rate and
recognize compensation cost only for those shares expected to vest over the requisite service period of the award. Prior to SFAS No.123(R)
adoption, we accounted for equity-based payments under Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, �Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees�, and accordingly did not recognize equity-based compensation related to these options, as the exercise price equaled the fair market
value of the common stock on the date of grant.

The fair value of each option award is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option valuation model. The Black-Scholes option
valuation model requires the development of assumptions that are input into the model. These assumptions are the expected stock volatility, the
risk-free interest rate, the option�s expected life and the dividend yield on the underlying stock. Expected volatility is calculated based on the
historical volatility of our common stock over the expected option life and other appropriate factors. Risk-free interest rates are calculated based
on continuously compounded U.S. Treasury risk-free rates for the appropriate term. Prior to March 9, 2006, the expected life of stock options
was calculated by performing a detailed analysis of all historical stock option information available. On March 9, 2006, we began to grant
options with a five-year legal life instead of the eight-year legal life that had historically been used. As a result, we elected to use the �simplified�
method, as described in SAB 107, to estimate the expected life of options granted on and after March 9, 2006. We will utilize the simplified
method until sufficient historical information becomes available on the five-year legal life options. The dividend yield is assumed to be zero as
we have never paid or declared any cash dividends on our common stock and do not intend to pay dividends on our common stock in the
foreseeable future. The expected forfeiture rate is estimated based on historical experience.

Determining the appropriate fair value model and calculating the fair value of equity-based payment awards require the input of the subjective
assumptions described above. The assumptions used in calculating the fair value of equity-based payment awards represent management�s best
estimates, which involve inherent uncertainties and the application of management judgment. As a result, if factors change and we use different
assumptions, our equity-based compensation expense could be materially different in the future. In addition, we are required to estimate the
expected forfeiture rate and recognize expense only for those shares expected to vest. If our actual forfeiture rate is materially different from our
estimate, the equity-based compensation expense could be significantly different from what we have recorded in the current period. See Note 2
to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for a further discussion of equity-based compensation.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth information from our Statements of Operations, expressed as a percentage of total revenue.

For the Years Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004

Revenue:
License fees 65.7 % 68.1 % 66.6 %
Maintenance and services 32.1 27.7 26.4
Hardware 2.2 4.2 7.0
Total revenue 100.0 100.0 100.0

Cost of revenue:
License fees 7.1 9.1 11.1
Maintenance and services 11.4 10.7 12.8
Hardware 1.7 2.6 5.0
Total cost of revenue 20.2 22.4 28.9

Gross profit 79.8 77.6 71.1

Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing 36.0 32.7 33.8
Research and development 18.6 15.8 17.5
General and administrative 15.4 13.5 15.6
Loss on operating lease � 1.0 �
Acquired in-process research and development � � 2.8
Total operating expenses 70.0 63.0 69.7

Operating income 9.8 14.6 1.4

Interest income 4.7 2.1 1.0
Income before income taxes 14.5 16.7 2.4

Provision for income taxes 5.2 5.5 1.6

Net income 9.3 % 11.2 % 0.8 %

Revenue (in thousands)

For the Years Ended December 31, Increase (Decrease) Percent Increase (Decrease)
2006 2005 2004 2005 to 2006 2004 to 2005 2005 to 2006 2004 to 2005

Revenues:
License fees $ 46,332 $ 35,228 $ 24,054 $ 11,104 $ 11,174 32 % 46 %
Maintenance and
services 22,615 14,324 9,525 8,291 4,799 58 % 50 %
Hardware 1,565 2,165 2,543 (600 ) (378 ) (28 )% (15 )%
Total revenue $ 70,512 $ 51,717 $ 36,122 $ 18,795 $ 15,595 36 % 43 %

Revenue growth during 2006 and 2005 was driven by an increase in our core revenue components of software license fees, including revenue
from software options and maintenance and service revenue from a larger installed base of customers.

For 2007, we expect revenue of $90.0 million to $95.0 million, or a 28% to 35% increase over full-year 2006 revenue.
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License fee revenue (in thousands)

For the Years Ended December 31, Increase (Decrease) Percent Increase (Decrease)
2006 2005 2004 2005 to 2006 2004 to 2005 2005 to 2006 2004 to 2005

License fee revenue:
Vitrea licenses $ 18,585 $ 14,453 $ 7,920 $ 4,132 $ 6,533 29 % 82 %
Vitrea options and third party software 26,486 19,389 15,721 7,097 3,668 37 % 23 %
Other 1,261 1,386 413 (125 ) 973 (9 )% 236 %
Total license fee revenue $ 46,332 $ 35,228 $ 24,054 $ 11,104 $ 11,174 32 % 46 %

License fee revenue increased 32% to $46.3 million in 2006 from $35.2 million in 2005. License fee revenue increased 46% to $35.2 million in
2005 from $24.0 million in 2004. The increase in license fee revenue was driven by an increase in the number of Vitrea licenses sold and an
increase in average revenue per Vitrea license sold. During 2006, sales of Vitrea options and third party software grew faster than Vitrea sales
due to increased option sales both upfront and as add-on purchases from our installed base of existing customers. Top-selling options in 2006
and 2005 were General Vessel Probe, Automated Vessel Measurement and CT Cardiac � all cardiovascular solutions. As of December 31, 2006,
we have sold approximately 3,800 separate software licenses for our solutions, compared to approximately 2,750 and 1,900 as of December 31,
2005 and 2004, respectively. License fee revenue by source is as follows:

For the Years Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004

Percent of license fee revenue:
Direct 44 % 42 % 44 %
Toshiba 44 % 49 % 53 %
McKesson 12 % 9 % 3 %
Total license fee revenue 100 % 100 % 100 %

The decrease in Toshiba license fee revenue as a percentage of total license fee revenue reflects our growth in PACS and direct enterprise deals.

Maintenance and services revenue (in thousands)

For the Years Ended December 31, Increase (Decrease) Percent Increase (Decrease)
2006 2005 2004 2005 to 2006 2004 to 2005 2005 to 2006 2004 to 2005

Maintenance and services revenue:
Maintenance and support $ 16,379 $ 9,808 $ 5,860 $ 6,571 $ 3,948 67 % 67 %
Training 5,178 3,718 3,091 1,460 627 39 % 20 %
Installation 1,058 798 574 260 224 33 % 39 %
Total maintenance and services $ 22,615 $ 14,324 $ 9,525 $ 8,291 $ 4,799 58 % 50 %

Maintenance and services revenue increased 58% to $22.6 million in 2006 compared to $14.3 million in 2005.  Maintenance and services
revenue increased 50% to $14.3 million in 2005 compared to $9.5 million in 2004. The increases in maintenance revenues in each year were due
to a significant increase in our installed base of customers, increased pricing on maintenance related services and an increased maintenance
renewal rate. The increase in training revenue and installation revenue was due to an increase in the number of Vitrea licenses sold each year. 
Also contributing to the increase in training revenue is that in the fourth quarter of 2005, we put in place an expiration policy for unused training.
The 2006 fourth quarter was the first period we were able to expire unused training. Additionally, in the 2006 fourth quarter, we reached an
agreement with one of our partners on an expiration period for training. As a result, maintenance and services revenue during the fourth quarter
of 2006 included approximately $490,000 of non-recurring revenue relating to unused training that expired.

Hardware revenue

Hardware revenue decreased 28% to $1.6 million in 2006 compared to $2.2 million in 2005.  Hardware revenue decreased 15% to $2.2 million
in 2005 compared to $2.5 million in 2004. We sell hardware as a convenience to our customers, and fluctuations are driven by
individual customer purchasing preferences. Sales of hardware systems are not core to our strategy and will fluctuate
from period to period depending upon the needs of our customers.
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Cost of revenue

Gross profit increased 40% to $56.3 million in 2006 compared to $40.2 million in 2005. Gross profit increased 56% to $40.2 million in 2005
compared to $25.7 million in 2004. Gross margin percentage increased to 80% in 2006 compared to 78% in 2005 and 71% in 2004.

A comparison of gross profit and gross margin by revenue category is as follows (in thousands):

For the Years Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004

Gross profit:
License fees $ 41,341 $ 30,546 $ 20,060
Maintenance and services 14,592 8,765 4,865
Hardware 369 846 750
Total gross profit $ 56,302 $ 40,157 $ 25,675

Gross margin:
License fees 89 % 87 % 83 %
Maintenance and services 65 % 61 % 51 %
Hardware 24 % 39 % 30 %
Total gross margin 80 % 78 % 71 %

The increase in license fee gross margin during 2006 and 2005 was due to an increase in average revenue per Vitrea license sold due to an
increase in the sales price and an increase in total Vitrea option revenue, which has lower associated costs.  Also contributing to the increase in
2005 was an increase in the percentage of license revenue generated outside of our Toshiba relationship, as sales through Toshiba have lower
average revenue per transaction. Amortization charged to cost of revenue related to the HInnovation acquisition was $1.1
million, $1.1 million and $976,000 in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. As revenue continues to increase,
amortization expense as a percentage of license revenue will decrease.

Maintenance and services gross margin increased during 2006 and 2005 due to increased pricing on maintenance services and increased revenue
from a growing installed base, without an increase in costs at a similar rate. We will continue to invest in our training, installation,
professional services and customer support areas in the future to adequately support our growing installed base of
customers, as well as to evaluate maintenance and services pricing as our cost structure increases, which could have an
impact on maintenance and services gross margins in the future.

The decrease in hardware gross margin during 2006 was primarily due to a maintenance and support promotion which provided customers with
a discount on hardware in connection with their purchasing contracts for maintenance and support.  During 2005, hardware gross margin
increased due to increased pricing.

During 2007 we expect total gross margin to be approximately 80%.

Operating expenses

The following is a comparison of operating expenses as a percent of revenue as well as the percent increase or decrease in the total expense:

Percent of Revenue for the
Years Ended December 31, Percent Increase (Decrease)
2006 2005 2004 2005 to 2006 2004 to 2005

Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing 36.0 % 32.7 % 33.8 % 49.9 % 38.7 %
Research and development 18.6 15.8 17.5 60.7 28.7
General and administrative 15.4 13.5 15.6 55.4 24.7
Loss on operating lease � 1.0 � N/A N/A
Acquired in-process R&D � � 2.8 � N/A
Total operating expenses 70.0 % 63.0 % 69.7 % 51.5 % 29.5 %

Edgar Filing: VITAL IMAGES INC - Form 10-K

46



29

Edgar Filing: VITAL IMAGES INC - Form 10-K

47



Sales and marketing

Sales and marketing expenses increased $8.4 million to $25.4 million in 2006 compared to $16.9 million in 2005. Sales and marketing expenses
increased $4.7 million to $16.9 million in 2005 compared to $12.2 million in 2004.  The change in sales and marketing expense is as follows (in
thousands):

Year-over-year
Change from Fiscal

Year-over-year Percent
Change from Fiscal

2005 to 2006 2004 to 2005 2005 to 2006 2004 to 2005
Salaries, benefits and bonus $ 2,939 $ 850 54 % 19 %
Equity-based compensation 1,869 126 1483 % 100 %
Commissions 1,069 1,305 25 % 45 %
Trade shows 836 777 61 % 129 %
Travel, meals and entertainment 818 168 48 % 11 %
Depreciation 275 158 52 % 42 %
R2 Technology, Inc contract (479 ) 410 (117 )% 100 %
Overhead and other expenses 1,115 934 35 % 42 %
Total $ 8,442 $ 4,728 50 % 39 %

The increase in expenses during both periods was due to an increase in compensation costs as a result of additional personnel, higher sales
commission expenses resulting from significantly increased revenue, higher travel and entertainment costs and higher costs for attending
industry tradeshows. We had 75, 50 and 45 sales and marketing personnel as of December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The increase
in equity-based compensation costs during 2006 was the result of our adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) as of January 1, 2006. Also, in the first
quarter of 2006, we reversed $236,000 of the $410,000 expense recorded in the fourth quarter of 2005 relating to our agreement with R2.  In the
second quarter of 2006, we recorded a $167,000 expense relating to relating to our agreement with R2. See Note 5 to the Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion.

We expect sales and marketing expenses to continue to increase in future periods primarily as a result of the need to support additional growth
through the hiring of sales and marketing personnel. Including equity-based compensation, we expect sales and marketing expenses to be
between 36% and 37% of total revenue for the year ending December 31, 2007.

Research and development

Research and development expenses increased $4.9 million to $13.1 million in 2006 compared to $8.1 million in 2005. Research and
development expenses increased $1.8 million to $8.1 million in 2005 compared to $6.3 million in 2004. The change in research and
development expense is as follows (in thousands):

Year-over-year
Change from Fiscal

Year-over-year Percent
Change from Fiscal

2005 to 2006 2004 to 2005 2005 to 2006 2004 to 2005
Salaries, benefits and bonus $ 2,961 $ 949 56 % 22 %
Equity-based compensation 797 43 1853 % 100 %
Depreciation 283 103 63 % 30 %
Consulting 158 442 24 % 217 %
Overhead and other expenses 745 282 44 % 20 %
Total $ 4,944 $ 1,819 61 % 29 %

The increases in expenses for both periods were due in part to increases in compensation costs as a result of additional personnel focused on
product innovation and development. We had 100, 62, and 50 research and development personnel as of December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. Salaries, benefits and bonus for the year ended December 31, 2006 included a $284,000 one-time charge related to the retirement
of Vincent Argiro, our Chief Technology Officer and founder, which was recorded in the first quarter of 2006.  Of this charge, $138,000 is
included in salaries, benefits and bonus above and $146,000 is included in equity-based compensation.  The increase in equity-based
compensation costs during 2006 was the result of our adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) as of January 1,
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2006.

During 2006 and 2005, we required a significant amount of temporary consulting services in completing certain research and development
activities, specifically in the area of software testing and validation.  However, during 2006 we added a significant number of research and
development personnel, which allowed us to rely less on outside consulting as a total percentage of research and development expense.

We expect research and development expenses to continue to increase in future periods primarily as a result of additional personnel to support
the expansion of our product development activities so that we can maintain our status as an industry leader in advanced visualization. Including
the equity-based compensation, we expect research and development expenses to be between 17% and 18% of total revenue for the year ending
December 31, 2007.

General and administrative

General and administrative expenses increased 55% to $10.9 million in 2006 compared to $7.0 million in 2005. General and administrative
expenses increased 25% to $7.0 million in 2005 compared to $5.6 million in 2004. The change in general and administrative expense is as
follows (in thousands):

Year-over-year
Change from Fiscal

Year-over-year Percent
Change from Fiscal

2005 to 2006 2004 to 2005 2005 to 2006 2004 to 2005
Salaries, benefits and bonus $ 1,376 $ 1,393 40 % 67 %
Equity-based compensation 1,712 144 1189 % 100 %
Overhead and other expenses 798 (145 ) 23 % (4 )%
Total $ 3,886 $ 1,392 55 % 25 %

The increase during 2006 was primarily due to higher equity-based compensation costs as a result of our adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) as of
January 1, 2006.  The remaining increases in both periods were due to increases in compensation costs as a result of additional personnel and
increases in overhead expenses due to the growth of the business. We had 50, 30, and 23 general and administrative personnel as of
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

We expect general and administrative expenses to continue to increase in future periods primarily as a result of increased personnel and
administrative costs associated with various company initiatives to build the infrastructure for a larger business, as well as international
expansion. Including the equity-based compensation, we expect general and administrative expenses to be approximately 15% to 16% of total
revenue for the year ending December 31, 2007.

Other items

Loss on operating lease � In March 2004, we signed a non-cancelable operating lease for a new office facility in Minnetonka, Minnesota. The
new lease term started in February 2005 and expires in January 2012. We moved into the Minnetonka location and moved out of the Plymouth,
Minnesota location in February 2005. Our lease for the office facility in Plymouth expired on July 31, 2005, with the exception of a small
portion of the space that was under lease until May 31, 2006. Under the terms of the Minnetonka lease, since February 2005, the lessor paid the
monthly base rent payments and taxes and operating cost rent obligation payments for our former office facility in Plymouth.  In the first quarter
of 2005, we recorded a lease loss of $493,000 related to the abandonment of the Plymouth office. The estimated lease payments to be made by
the Minnetonka landlord to the Plymouth landlord are considered a lease incentive and recorded as an immediate charge and deferred rent,
which is amortized as a reduction of rent expense through the term of the lease.

Acquired in-process research and development � Results for the first quarter of 2004 included a $1.0 million write-off of in-process research and
development costs related to the HInnovation acquisition.

Interest income

We generated $3.3 million of interest income in 2006, compared with $1.1 million in 2005 and $368,000 in 2004. During the fourth quarter of
2006, we completed a public offering of 3.4 million shares of common stock, resulting in net proceeds of $97.7 million, which significantly
increased interest income in the fourth quarter. In addition to the increased interest income resulting from the offering, the increases were
primarily due to increases in cash, cash
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equivalents and marketable securities, which were generated from increased cash flows in all periods, and an increase in interest rates.

Income taxes

Our effective income tax rate was 36%, 33% and 67% in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The increase in our effect tax rate in 2006 from
2005 was due to the non-deductibility of incentive stock options, for which the tax benefit is recorded only upon a disqualifying disposition
which was a result of the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) on January 1, 2006 which required that we recognize compensation expense for all
equity-based payments granted on or after January 1, 2006 and prior to but not yet vested as of January 1, 2006.  Our effective tax rate of 67% in
2004 was impacted by non-deductible in-process research and development and an increase in our valuation allowance.

We estimate an effective income tax rate of approximately 36% to 37% in 2007. Due to the utilization of deferred tax assets relating to net
operating losses and tax deductions from the exercise of stock options, we do not anticipate paying any significant cash for income taxes for the
next two to four years.

Our methodology for determining the realizability of our deferred tax assets involves estimates of future taxable income from our core business,
the estimated impact of future tax deductions from the exercise of stock options outstanding as of each balance sheet date, and the expiration
dates and amounts of net operating loss carryforwards and other tax credits. These estimates are projected through the life of the related deferred
tax assets based on assumptions which we believe to be reasonable and consistent with current operating results.  If we adjust either our
estimates of future taxable income or tax deductions from the exercise of stock options down, or our stock price increases significantly without
an increase in taxable income, causing us to believe that our deferred tax assets will not be utilized, we may need to establish additional
valuation allowances on our deferred tax assets, which could materially impact our financial position and results of operations.

Liquidity and capital resources

As of December 31, 2006, we had $144.4 million in cash and cash equivalents, $21.6 million in marketable securities, working capital of $162.2
million and no borrowings, as compared to $20.8 million in cash and cash equivalents, $29.0 million in marketable securities, working capital of
$45.6 million and no borrowings as of December 31, 2005.

Operating activities

During 2006, cash provided by operations was $14.8 million, which consisted of net income of $6.6 million, a decrease of $526,000 from
changes in working capital accounts, an increase of $561,000 in deferred rent relating to payments and estimated payments to be made by our
Minnetonka landlord for our benefit, and an increase of $8.2 million from other non-cash operating activities. Changes in working capital
accounts primarily related to an increase in accounts receivable of $5.3 million and an increase in deferred revenue of $4.4 million due to
increased sales and an increased customer base. Days� sales outstanding (calculated by dividing ending net accounts receivable by revenue per
day) was 101 as of December 31, 2006 and 2005.  Our aging remains relatively current, with less than 2% of receivables greater than 90 days
past due as of December 31, 2006 and 2005. We use days� sales outstanding as an activity measure which places emphasis and focus on accounts
receivable, but this measure is not defined under U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, and similarly titled measures may not be
computed the same by other companies. Other changes in working capital accounts included an increase of $701,000 in prepaid and other
current assets and an increase of $836,000 in accounts payable due to increased operating costs and general timing of payments to vendors.

During 2005, cash provided by operations was $13.7 million, which consisted of a decrease of $101,000 from changes in working capital
accounts, an increase of $1.2 million in deferred rent relating to payments and estimated payments to be made by our Minnetonka landlord for
our benefit, and an increase of $12.6 million from other operating activities. Changes in working capital accounts primarily related to an increase
in accounts receivable of $6.1 million and an increase in deferred revenue of $3.5 million due to increased sales and an increased customer base.
Days� sales outstanding as of December 31, 2005 increased to 101 days, compared to 82 days as of December 31, 2004, which increased as a
result of a significant portion of sales occurring in the third month of the fourth quarter of 2005. Other changes in working capital accounts
included a decrease of $135,000 in prepaid and other current assets; an increase of $740,000 in accounts payable due to increased operating costs
and general timing of payments to vendors; and an increase of $1.9 million related to accruals for bonuses and royalty payments.
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Investing activities

Net cash provided by investing activities was $1.4 million in 2006.  We used $21.7 million and $15.7 million of cash in investing activities in
2005 and 2004, respectively.

We used $6.4 million, $4.3 million and $1.6 million for purchases of property and equipment in 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. The purchases for all periods were principally to expand our facilities and upgrade computer equipment
and to purchase computer equipment for new personnel. We anticipate that we will continue to purchase property and
equipment in the normal course of business. The amount and timing of these purchases and the related cash outflows
in future periods are difficult to predict and depend on a number of factors, including the hiring of employees and the
rate of change of computer hardware.

We used $29.5 million, $38.8 million and $30.4 million to purchase investments in marketable securities during 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. We realized $37.4 million, $21.4 million and $22.5 million of proceeds from maturities and sales of
marketable securities during 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The marketable securities consist of U.S. government
obligations, U.S. government agency obligations, corporate commercial obligations and certificates of deposits.

During the first quarter of 2004, we completed the acquisition of HInnovation, Inc. in accordance with the terms and conditions of an
Acquisition Agreement and Plan of Reorganization dated as of January 8, 2004, using $6.1 million of cash. See Note 3 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements for additional information on the acquisition.

Financing activities

Cash provided by financing activities totaled $107.4 million, $4.7 million and $2.2 million for 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The cash
provided by financing activities in 2006 related primarily to the $97.7 million in net proceeds from our public offering
of 3.4 million shares of common stock.  The cash provided by financing activities in 2005 and 2004 resulted primarily
from the exercise of stock options granted under our stock plans and upon the exercise of warrants.

We have never paid or declared any cash dividends and do not intend to pay dividends in the near future.

The following summarizes our contractual obligations at December 31, 2006 and the effect such obligations are expected to have on our
liquidity and cash flow in future periods (in thousands).

Total 1 Year or Less 1 to 3 Years 3 to 5 Years
More than 5
Years

Operating leases $ 4,652 $ 1,010 $ 1,771 $ 1,795 $ 76

Off-balance-sheet arrangements

We did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements as of December 31, 2006 or 2005.

Agreement with R2 Technology, Inc.

In the first quarter of 2006, we reversed $236,000 of the $410,000 expense recorded in the fourth quarter of 2005 relating to our agreement with
R2.  In the second quarter of 2006, we recorded a $167,000 expense relating to relating to our agreement with R2.  No such charges or reversals
occurred during the second half of 2006.  As of December 31, 2006, the remaining potential aggregate commitment under this agreement ranges
from a minimum of $0 to a maximum of approximately $2.1 million and we estimate that we will incur no additional losses relating to this
agreement. Based on information available to us, R2 had not generated any significant R2 Lung CAD Product sales through any other sales,
marketing and distribution channels, other than sales generated from customers under this agreement.  As a result, the Applicable Minimum for
the quarter ended December 31, 2006 was $0, and the Applicable Minimum for the quarter ending March 31, 2007 is $0. See Note 9 to the
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion.
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Other purchase commitments

We had no significant outstanding purchase orders as of December, 31 2006. We have entered into a number of technology licensing agreements
that provide for the payment of royalties when we sell Vitrea. Except for the R2 purchase commitment described above, we are not obligated for
any minimum payments under such agreements.

Foreign currency transactions

Substantially all of our foreign transactions are negotiated, invoiced and paid in U.S. dollars.
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Inflation

We believe inflation has not had a material effect on our operations or financial condition.

Recent accounting pronouncement

In June 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, �Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, an interpretation of FASB Statement
No. 109� (�FIN 48�). FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an enterprise�s financial statements and
prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or
expected to be taken in a tax return. FIN 48 also provides related guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in
interim periods and disclosure. FIN 48 is effective for us beginning January 1, 2007. We are currently evaluating the impact of FIN 48.

Item 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Market risk refers to the risk that a change in the level of one or more market prices, interest rates, indices, volatilities, correlations or other
market factors such as liquidity will result in losses for a certain financial instrument or group of financial instruments. We do not hold or issue
financial instruments for trading purposes, and we do not enter into forward financial instruments to manage and reduce the impact of changes in
foreign currency rates because, as disclosed above, substantially all of our foreign transactions are negotiated, invoiced and paid in U.S. dollars.
Based on the controls in place and the relative size of the financial instruments entered into, we believe the risks associated with not using these
instruments would not have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position or results of operations.

In addition, we do not engage in speculative transactions and do not use derivative instruments or engage in hedging activities. See the Notes to
the Consolidated Financial Statements for a description of our accounting policies and other information related to these financial instruments.

In the normal course of business, we are exposed to market risks, including changes in interest rates and price changes, which could affect our
operating results. As of December 31, 2006, fluctuations in interest rates, exchange rates and price changes would not have had a material effect
on our financial position or operating results.

Interest rate risk

We place our cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities, which generally have a term of less than one year, with a high-quality financial
institution and have investment guidelines relative to diversification and maturities designed to maintain safety and liquidity. As of
December 31, 2006, we had cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities totaling $166.0 million. If, during 2006, average short-term interest
rates decreased by 1.0% from 2006 average rates, based on our quarterly average balance of cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities,
our projected interest income from short-term investments would have decreased by approximately $860,000.

Foreign currency risk

Substantially all of our foreign transactions are negotiated, invoiced and paid in U.S. dollars. Therefore, fluctuations in the value of the dollar as
compared to other foreign currencies have not had an effect on our results of operations or financial condition.

Item 8.  Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Our financial statements, supplemental schedule and Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm thereon, all of which are
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, are listed in Item 15(a)(1) of this Form 10-K.

Item 9.  Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

Not applicable.

Item 9A.  Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed
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in the reports that we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (�Exchange Act�), are recorded, processed,
summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the Securities and Exchange Commission, and that such
information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.  Our management, under the supervision of and with the participation of our
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on such evaluation, our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31,
2006.

We maintain a disclosure committee to assist our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer in performing the evaluation discussed
above. The members of this committee include certain of our executive officers, senior members of our finance and accounting staff, our general
counsel and our outside legal counsel.

Management�s report on internal control over financial reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). Our internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Our management, under the supervision of and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated
the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006 based on the criteria established in Internal Control �
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on the results of this
evaluation, we concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2006.

Our assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006 has been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered accounting firm, as stated in their report which is included in Item 15(a)(1) of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Changes in internal control over financial reporting

There were no changes in internal control over financial reporting during 2006 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B.  Other Information

None.
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Part III

Certain information required by Part III is omitted from this Annual Report on Form 10-K because we will file a definitive Proxy Statement
relating to our 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders pursuant to Schedule 14A (the �Proxy Statement�) not later than 120 days after the end of the
fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and certain information included therein is incorporated herein by reference as
indicated below.

Item 10.  Directors and Executive Officers of Registrant

The information required by this Item 10 will be included under the captions �Election of Directors� and �Information Concerning Directors,
Nominees and Executive Officers� in our 2007 Proxy Statement. Information concerning the compliance of our officers, directors and 10%
shareholders with Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is incorporated by reference to the information to be contained in the
2006 Proxy Statement under the caption �Information Concerning Directors Nominees and Executive Officers � Section 16(a) Beneficial
Ownership Reporting Compliance.�  The information regarding Audit Committee members and �audit committee financial experts� is incorporated
by reference to the information to be contained in the 2007 Proxy Statement under the caption �Information Concerning Directors Nominees and
Executive Officers � Board Committees.�  The information regarding our Code of Business Ethics is incorporated by reference to the information
to be contained in the 2007 Proxy Statement under the heading �Information Concerning Directors Nominees and Executive Officers � Code of
Business Conduct and Ethics.�

Item 11.  Executive Compensation

The information under the captions �Information Concerning Directors Nominees and Executive Officers � Executive Compensation� and
�Information Concerning Directors Nominees and Executive Officers � Director Compensation� to be contained in the 2007 Proxy Statement is
incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related
Stockholder Matters

The information under the captions �Beneficial Ownership of Common Stock� and �Information Concerning Directors, Nominees and Executive
Officers � Securities Authorized for Issuers Under Equity Compensation Plans� to be contained in the 2007 Proxy Statement is incorporated herein
by reference.

Item 13.  Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

Not applicable.

Item 14.  Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information under the caption �Ratification of Appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as Independent Registered Public Accounting
Firm� to be contained in the 2007 Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.
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Part IV

Item 15.  Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a)  The following consolidated financial statements of Vital Images, Inc. and Report of Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm thereon are included herein:

(1)  Financial Statements

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2006 and 2005
Consolidated Income Statements for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders� Equity and Other Comprehensive Income for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and
2004
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(2)  All other schedules to the consolidated financial statements required by Article 12 of Regulation S-X are not
required under the related instructions or are inapplicable and therefore have been omitted.

(3)  Listing of Exhibits

The Exhibits required to be a part of this Report are listed in the Index to Exhibits.

(b)  Exhibits

Included in Item 15(a)(3) above.
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this Report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in Minneapolis, Minnesota, on the 12th day of March, 2007.

Vital Images, Inc.

By: /s/Michael H. Carrel
Michael H. Carrel
Chief Operating Officer and
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal
Accounting Officer)

Pursuant to the requirement of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed by the following persons in the capacities and
on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/Jay D. Miller President, Chief Executive Officer and Director March 15, 2007
Jay D. Miller (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/Michael H. Carrel Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer March 15, 2007
Michael H. Carrel Treasurer and Secretary

(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/Douglas M. Pihl Chairman of the Board and Director March 15, 2007
Douglas M. Pihl

/s/James B. Hickey, Jr. Director March 15, 2007
James B. Hickey, Jr.

/s/Richard W. Perkins Director March 15, 2007
Richard W. Perkins

/s/Michael W. Vannier Director March 15, 2007
Michael W. Vannier

/s/Sven A. Wehrwein Director March 15, 2007
Sven A. Wehrwein

/s/Gregory J. Peet Director March 15, 2007
Gregory J. Peet
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Vital Images, Inc.:

We have completed integrated audits of Vital Images Inc.�s consolidated financial statements and of its internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2006, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Our opinions,
based on our audits, are presented below.

Consolidated financial statements

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the index appearing under Item 15(a)(1) present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Vital Images, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the �Company�) at December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the results of their operations
and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2006 in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company�s management. Our responsibility is
to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with the
standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed the manner in which it accounts for
share-based compensation in 2006.

Internal control over financial reporting

Also, in our opinion, management�s assessment, included in Management�s report on internal control over financial reporting appearing under
Item 9A, that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006 based on criteria established
in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), is
fairly stated, in all material respects, based on those criteria. Furthermore, in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects,
effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated
Framework issued by the COSO. The Company�s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting
and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express opinions on management�s
assessment and on the effectiveness of the Company�s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We conducted our audit of
internal control over financial reporting in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respects. An audit of internal control over financial reporting includes obtaining an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management�s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of
internal control, and performing such other procedures as we consider necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company�s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A
company�s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company�s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota
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Vital Images, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands)

December 31,
2006 2005

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 144,382 $ 20,845
Marketable securities 20,821 28,965
Accounts receivable, net 19,589 14,330
Deferred income taxes 1,661 717
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,928 1,228
Total current assets 188,381 66,085
Marketable securities 750 �
Property and equipment, net 9,242 5,361
Deferred income taxes 8,969 8,949
Licensed technology, net 90 210
Other intangible assets, net 3,209 4,493
Goodwill 9,089 6,053
Total assets $ 219,730 $ 91,151

Liabilities and Stockholders� Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 3,830 $ 2,640
Accrued compensation 3,977 3,688
Accrued royalties 1,158 1,348
Other current liabilities 2,083 1,575
Deferred revenue 15,131 11,231
Total current liabilities 26,179 20,482
Deferred revenue 1,174 645
Deferred rent 1,475 1,235
Total liabilities 28,828 22,362

Commitments and contingencies (Note 5)

Stockholders� equity:
Preferred stock: $0.01 par value; 5,000 shares authorized; none issued or outstanding � �
Common stock: $0.01 par value; 20,000 shares authorized; 16,908 issued and outstanding as of December
31, 2006; and 12,848 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2005 169 128
Additional paid-in capital 189,669 75,918
Deferred stock-based compensation � (1,707 )
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit) 1,053 (5,530 )
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 11 (20 )
Total stockholders� equity 190,902 68,789
Total liabilities and stockholders� equity $ 219,730 $ 91,151

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Vital Images, Inc.
Consolidated Income Statements

(In thousands, except for per share amounts)

For the Year Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004

Revenue:
License fees $ 46,332 $ 35,228 $ 24,054
Maintenance and services 22,615 14,324 9,525
Hardware 1,565 2,165 2,543
Total revenue 70,512 51,717 36,122

Cost of revenue:
License fees 4,991 4,682 3,994
Maintenance and services 8,023 5,559 4,660
Hardware 1,196 1,319 1,793
Total cost of revenue 14,210 11,560 10,447

Gross profit 56,302 40,157 25,675

Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing 25,374 16,932 12,204
Research and development 13,092 8,148 6,329
General and administrative 10,905 7,019 5,627
Loss on operating lease � 493 �
Acquired in-process research and development � � 1,000
Total operating expenses 49,371 32,592 25,160

Operating income 6,931 7,565 515

Interest income 3,342 1,067 368
Income before income taxes 10,273 8,632 883

Provision for income taxes 3,690 2,831 587

Net income $ 6,583 $ 5,801 $ 296

Net income per share � basic $ 0.49 $ 0.47 $ 0.03
Net income per share � diluted $ 0.46 $ 0.44 $ 0.02

Weighted average common shares outstanding - basic 13,463 12,379 11,632
Weighted average common shares outstanding - diluted 14,259 13,283 12,536

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Vital Images, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders� Equity and Comprehensive Income

(In thousands)

Retained Accumulated
Additional Earnings / Other Total

Common Stock Paid-In Deferred (Accumulated Comprehensive Stockholders� Comprehensive
Shares Amount Capital Compensation Deficit) Income / (Loss) Equity Income

Balances as of December 31,
2003 11,140 111 56,109 (11,627 ) 44,593

Issuance of common stock
upon exercise of stock options 456 5 1,967 1,972
Tax benefit related to exercise
of stock options 1,430 1,430
Issuance of common stock
under employee stock
purchase plan 19 � 171 171
Issuance of common stock
upon exercise of stock
warrants 16 � 19 19
Stock-based compensation 11 11
Acquistion of HInnovation 376 4 6,106 6,110
Unrealized loss on investments (48 ) (48 ) (48 )
Net income 296 296 296
Balances as of December 31,
2004 12,007 120 65,813 � (11,331 ) (48 ) 54,554 $ 248

Issuance of common stock
upon exercise of stock options 711 7 4,496 4,503
Tax benefit related to exercise
of stock options 3,359 3,359
Issuance of common stock
under employee stock
purchase plan 15 � 210 210
Grant of restricted stock to
employees, net 115 1 2,019 (2,021 ) (1 )
Stock-based compensation 21 314 335
Change in unrealized loss on
investments, net of tax 28 28 $ 28
Net income 5,801 5,801 5,801
Balances as of December 31,
2005 12,848 128 75,918 (1,707 ) (5,530 ) (20 ) 68,789 $ 5,829

Issuance of common stock
upon exercise of stock options 564 6 5,168 5,174
Tax benefit related to exercise
of stock options 4,403 4,403
Issuance of common stock
under employee stock
purchase plan 16 � 364 364
Grant of restricted stock to
employees, net 34 � � �
Common stock surrendered for
payment of payroll tax liability
resulting from the vesting of
restricted stock (14 ) � (292 ) (292 )
Issuance of common stock as
contingent consideration

106 1 3,083 3,084
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related to the acquisition of
Hinnovation (See note 3)
Issuance of common stock in
connection with public
offering, net of offering costs
of $6,271 3,354 34 97,669 97,703
Stock-based compensation 5,063 5,063
Reclassification of deferred
compensation pursuant to
FAS123R (1,707 ) 1,707 �
Change in unrealized loss on
investments, net of tax 27 27 $ 27
Cumulative translation
adjustment 4 4 4
Net income 6,583 6,583 6,583
Balances as of December 31,
2006 16,908 $ 169 $ 189,669 $ � $ 1,053 $ 11 $ 190,902 $ 6,614

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Vital Images, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In thousands)

For the Year Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 6,583 $ 5,801 $ 296
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment 2,910 2,143 1,569
Amortization of identified intangible assets 1,404 1,404 1,243
Acquired in-process research and development � � 1,000
Provision for doubtful accounts 25 (159 ) 627
Deferred income taxes 3,472 (600 ) (878 )
Tax benefit from stock option transactions � 3,359 1,430
Excess tax benefit from stock transactions (4,143 ) � �
Amortization of discount and accretion of premium on marketable securities (382 ) 24 463
Employee stock-based compensation 5,045 314 �
Non-employee stock-based compensation 18 21 12
Loss on operating lease � 493 �
Amortization of deferred rent (195 ) (163 ) �
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effect from acquisition:
Accounts receivable (5,284 ) (6,080 ) (3,839 )
Prepaid expenses and other assets (701 ) (135 ) (169 )
Accounts payable 836 740 301
Accrued and other liabilities 194 1,913 1,892
Deferred revenue 4,429 3,461 3,612
Deferred rent 561 1,180 �
Net cash provided by operating activities 14,772 13,716 7,559

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment (6,436 ) (4,275 ) (1,627 )
Purchases of marketable securities (29,545 ) (38,845 ) (30,434 )
Maturities of marketable securities 35,987 21,417 22,455
Sales of marketable securities 1,376 � �
Acquisition of HInnovation, Inc., net of cash acquired � � (6,108 )
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 1,382 (21,703 ) (15,714 )

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from sale of common stock under stock plans 5,538 4,713 2,143
Proceeds from sale of common stock under stock warrants � � 19
Proceeds from sale of common stock, net of offering costs 97,703 � �
Excess tax benefit from stock transactions 4,143 � �
Net cash provided by financing activities 107,384 4,713 2,162

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 123,538 (3,274 ) (5,993 )

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 20,845 24,119 30,112

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 144,383 $ 20,845 $ 24,119

Supplemental cash flow information:
Purchases of property and equipment with accounts payable $ 662 $ 308 $ 301
Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Common stock issued relating to acquisition of HInnovation, Inc. (see Note 3) $ 3,084 $ � $ 6,110
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Vital Images, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1.  Business description

Vital Images, Inc. (the �Company�) is a leading provider of enterprise-wide advanced visualization and image analysis solutions for use by
medical professionals in clinical analysis and therapy planning for medical conditions. The Company provides software, training, software
maintenance, professional services and, on occasion, third-party hardware to its customers. The Company�s technology rapidly transforms
complex data generated by diagnostic imaging equipment into functional digital images that can be manipulated and analyzed using our
specialized applications to better understand internal anatomy and pathology. The Company�s solutions are designed to improve physician
workflow and productivity, enhance the ability to make clinical decisions, facilitate less invasive patient care, and complement often significant
capital investments in diagnostic imaging equipment made by its customers. The Company�s software is compatible with equipment from all
major manufacturers of diagnostic imaging equipment, such as computed tomography, or CT, magnetic resonance, or MR, and positron
emission tomography, or PET, scanners, and can be integrated into picture archiving and communication systems, or PACS. Many hospitals use
PACS to acquire, distribute and archive medical images and diagnostic reports, reducing the need for film and increasing reliance on advanced
visualization solutions such as ours. The Company also offers a Web-based solution that provides physicians with anywhere, anytime access to
medical images and visualization tools through any Internet-enabled computer.

The Company views its operations and manages its business as one reportable segment � the development and marketing of software and related
services for enterprise-wide advanced visualization and analysis solutions for use by medical professionals in clinical analysis and therapy
planning. Factors used to identify the Company�s single operating segment include the financial information available for evaluation by the chief
operating decision maker in making decisions about how to allocate resources and assess performance. The Company markets its products and
services through a direct sales force and independent distributors in the United States and international markets.

The Company is subject to risks and uncertainties, including but not limited to, dependence on information technology spending by customers,
well-established competitors, concentration of clients in a limited number of industries, fluctuations of quarterly results, a lengthy and variable
sales cycle, dependence on principal products and third-party technology, rapid technological change, its ability to develop products that gain
market acceptance and international expansion.

2.  Summary of significant accounting policies

Basis of presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and
transactions have been eliminated.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results
could differ from those estimates.

Fair value of financial instruments

The Company�s financial instruments consist primarily of cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities, for which the current carrying
amounts approximate fair market values.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and temporary investments with maturities of 90 days or less when purchased. The carrying amount of
cash equivalents approximates fair value due to the short maturity of these instruments.

Marketable securities

Management determines the appropriate classification of marketable securities at the time of purchase and
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reevaluates such designation as of each balance sheet date. Currently, all marketable securities held by the Company are classified as
available-for-sale. Available-for-sale securities are carried at fair value as determined by quoted market prices, with unrealized gains and losses,
net of tax, reported as a separate component of stockholders� equity. If an unrealized loss for any investment is considered to be
other-than-temporary, the loss will be recognized in the consolidated statements of operations in the period the determination is made. The cost
basis of securities sold is determined using the specific identification method. The cost of marketable securities is adjusted for amortization of
premiums and accretion of discounts to maturity. Such amortization and accretion is included in interest income. Interest and dividends on
securities classified as available-for-sale are included in interest income. As of December 31, 2006, all investments mature within two years.

As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, the Company�s marketable securities were as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 2006 December 31, 2005
Adjusted Aggregate Net Unrealized Adjusted Aggregate Net Unrealized
Cost Basis Fair Value Gains / (Losses) Cost Basis Fair Value Gains / (Losses)

Corporate debt (short
term) $ 20,810 $ 20,821 $ 11 $ 27,998 $ 27,970 $ (28 )
Corporate debt (long
term) $ 750 $ 750 $ � $ � $ � $ �
Certificates of deposit � � � 999 995 $ (4 )

$ 21,560 $ 21,571 $ 11 $ 28,997 $ 28,965 $ (32 )

Accounts receivable and allowance for doubtful accounts

Accounts receivable are initially recorded at a selling price, which approximates fair value upon the sale of goods or services to customers. The
Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts to reflect accounts receivable at net realizable value. In judging the adequacy of the
allowance for doubtful accounts, the Company considers multiple factors, including historical bad debt experience, the general economic
environment, the need for specific client reserves and the aging of the Company�s receivables. A portion of this provision is included in operating
expenses as a general and administrative expense and a portion is of this provision is included as a reduction of license revenue A considerable
amount of judgment is required in assessing these factors. If the factors utilized in determining the allowance do not reflect future performance,
then a change in the allowance for doubtful accounts would be necessary in the period such determination has been made, which would impact
future results of operations.

Concentration of credit risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents and
trade accounts receivable. Deposits with the Company�s bank may exceed the amount of insurance provided on such deposits. Generally, these
deposits may be redeemed upon demand and, therefore, bear minimal risk. Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to
concentrations of credit risk consist principally of marketable securities. Marketable securities consist of corporate debt and certificates of
deposit. The Company�s investment policy, approved by its Board of Directors, limits the amount the Company may invest in any one type of
investment, thereby reducing credit risk concentrations. The Company�s customer base is generally concentrated with a small number of
customers. The Company reviews the creditworthiness of its customers prior to product shipment and generally does not require collateral.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the related asset�s estimated useful
life, generally three to seven years. Equipment is generally depreciated over three to seven years, furniture and fixtures are generally depreciated
over seven years, computer software is generally depreciated over three years and leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of
their estimated useful lives or the remaining terms of the related leases. The asset cost and related accumulated depreciation or amortization are
adjusted for asset retirement or disposal with the resulting gain or loss, if any, credited or charged to results of operations.

Long-lived assets

The Company reviews long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be
recoverable, in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
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(�SFAS�) No. 144, �Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.�  Events or changes in circumstances that indicate the
carrying amount may not be recoverable include, but are not limited to, a significant decrease in the market value of the business or asset
acquired, a significant adverse change in the extent or manner in which the business or asset acquired is used, or a significant adverse change in
the business climate. If such events or changes in circumstances are present, the undiscounted cash flows method is used to determine whether
the asset is impaired. Cash flows would include the estimated terminal value of the asset and exclude any interest charges. To the extent the
carrying value of the asset exceeds the undiscounted cash flows over the estimated remaining life of the asset, the impairment is measured using
the discounted cash flows. The discount rate utilized would be based on management�s best estimate of the related risks and return at the time the
impairment assessment is made.

Goodwill

The Company accounts for goodwill in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 142, �Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets�. Under SFAS
No. 142, goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives are reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired. The first step of the goodwill impairment test, used to identify potential impairment,
compares the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount, including goodwill. The Company operates as one reporting unit and
therefore compares the book value to the market value (market capitalization plus a control premium). If the market value exceeds the book
value, goodwill is considered not impaired, and thus the second step of the impairment test is not necessary. If the Company�s book value
exceeds the market value, the second step of the goodwill impairment test is performed to measure the amount of impairment loss, if any. The
second step of the goodwill impairment test, used to measure the amount of impairment loss, compares the implied fair value of the goodwill
with the book value of the goodwill. If the carrying value of the goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of the goodwill, an impairment loss
would be recognized in an amount equal to the excess. Any loss recognized cannot exceed the carrying amount of goodwill. After a goodwill
impairment loss is recognized, the adjusted carrying amount of goodwill is its new accounting basis. Subsequent reversal of a previously
recognized goodwill impairment loss is prohibited once the measurement of that loss is completed. The Company completed the annual goodwill
impairment assessment as of December 31, 2006, in which no impairment was recorded.

Revenue recognition

The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (�AICPA�) Statement of Position (�SOP�)
97-2, Software Revenue Recognition, as amended by SOP 98-4 and SOP 98-9, as well as Technical Practice Aids issued from time to time by
the AICPA, and SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104. The Company recognizes revenue when it is realized or realizable and earned. The
Company considers revenue realized or realizable and earned when it has persuasive evidence of an arrangement, the product has been shipped
or the services have been provided to the customer, the sales price is fixed or determinable, and collectability is probable.

License fee revenue is derived from the licensing of computer software. Hardware revenue is derived from the sale of system hardware,
including peripheral equipment. Maintenance and service revenue is derived from software maintenance and from telephone support,
installation, training and consulting services. The Company�s software licenses are generally sold as part of an arrangement that includes
maintenance and support and often installation and training services.

The Company licenses software and sells products and services to end-users and also indirectly through original equipment manufacturers,
value-added resellers and independent distributors (collectively, �Resellers�). Terms offered by the Company do not generally differ between end
users and Resellers. The Company generally offers terms that require payment within 30 to 90 days after product delivery. In rare situations
where the Company offers terms that require payment beyond 90 days after product delivery, revenue is deferred until the payment becomes
due. The Company does not generally offer rights of return or acceptance clauses to its customers. In rare situations where the Company
provides rights of return or acceptance clauses, revenue is deferred until the clause expires. The Company evaluates the credit worthiness of all
customers. In circumstances in which the Company does not have experience selling to a customer and lacks adequate credit information to
conclude that collection is probable, revenue is deferred until collection is reasonably assured and all other revenue recognition criteria in the
arrangement have been met. Provided all other revenue recognition criteria are met, license revenue from Resellers is recognized on a sell-in or
sell-through basis depending on the arrangement with the Reseller. The Company recognizes revenue from Resellers on a sell-in basis provided
the Reseller i) assumes all risk of the purchase, ii) has the ability and obligation to pay regardless of receiving payment from the end user, and
iii) all other revenue recognition criteria are met. The majority of revenue generated through Resellers has been on a sell-in basis.
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Additionally:

•  Software and Hardware � Revenue from license fees and hardware is recognized when shipment of the
product has occurred, no significant Company obligations with regard to implementation remain and the Company�s
services are not considered essential to the functionality of other elements of the arrangement.

•  Services � Revenue from maintenance and support arrangements is deferred and recognized ratably over the
term of the maintenance and support arrangements. Revenue from training, installation and consulting services is
recognized as the services are provided to customers.

•  Multiple-Element Arrangements � The Company enters into arrangements with customers that include a
combination of software products, system hardware, specified upgrades, maintenance and support, or installation and
training services. For such arrangements, the Company recognizes revenue using the residual method. The Company
allocates the total arrangement fee among the various elements of the arrangement based on the fair value of each of
the undelivered elements determined by vendor-specific objective evidence. The fair value of installation and training
services and maintenance and support services is established based upon sold separately pricing for the services or
stated renewal rate. In software arrangements for which the Company does not have vendor-specific objective
evidence of fair value for all elements, revenue is deferred until the earlier of when vendor-specific objective evidence
is determined for the undelivered elements (residual method) or when all elements for which the Company does not
have vendor-specific objective evidence of fair value have been delivered.

Equity-based compensation

On January 1, 2006, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (�SFAS�) No. 123 (revised 2004), �Share-Based Payment�
(�SFAS No. 123(R)�), which requires the measurement and recognition of compensation expense for all equity-based payment awards made to
employees and directors, including employee stock options and employee stock purchases related to the Employee Stock Purchase Plan, based
on estimated fair values. SFAS No. 123(R) supersedes the Company�s previous accounting under Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25,
�Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees� (�APB 25�), for periods beginning in 2006. In March 2005, the Securities and Exchange Commission
issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107 (�SAB 107�) relating to SFAS No. 123(R). The Company has applied the provisions of SAB 107 in its
adoption of SFAS No. 123(R).

The Company adopted SFAS No. 123(R) using the modified prospective transition method, which requires the application of the accounting
standard as of January 1, 2006. The Company�s Consolidated Financial Statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2006 reflect the
impact of SFAS No. 123(R). In accordance with the modified prospective transition method, the Company�s Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements for prior periods have not been restated to reflect, and do not include, the impact of SFAS No. 123(R). Equity-based compensation
expense recognized under SFAS No. 123(R) for the year ended December 31, 2006 was $5.1 million. Equity-based compensation expense of
$335,000 was recorded as expense for the year ended December 31, 2005 related to restricted stock awards. There was no equity-based
compensation expenses related to employee stock options and employee stock purchases prior to fiscal 2006. Applying SFAS No. 123,
�Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation� (�SFAS No. 123�), on a pro forma basis, equity-based compensation expense was $3.5 million and
$2.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

SFAS No. 123(R) requires companies to estimate the fair value of equity-based payment awards on the date of grant using an option-pricing
model. The Company uses the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, which requires the input of assumptions, including an estimate of the
average period of time employees will retain vested stock options before exercising them, the estimated volatility of the Company�s common
stock price over the expected term and the number of options that will ultimately be forfeited before completing vesting requirements. Changes
in the assumptions can materially affect the estimate of fair value of equity-based compensation and, consequently, the related expense
recognized. The value of the portion of the award that is ultimately expected to vest is recognized as expense over the requisite vesting period.
Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), the Company accounted for equity-based awards to employees and directors using the intrinsic value
method in accordance with APB 25 as allowed under SFAS No. 123.

Under the intrinsic value method, no equity-based compensation expense had been recognized related to employee stock options because the
exercise price of the Company�s stock options granted to employees and directors equaled the fair market value of the underlying stock at the
date of grant.
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expense for equity-based payment awards granted on or prior to December 31, 2005 but not yet vested as of that date. The compensation
expense for these awards is based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the pro forma provisions of SFAS No. 123, which
was in effect on and prior to December 31, 2005. Compensation expense for the equity-based payment awards granted subsequent to
December 31, 2005 is based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R). Because equity-based
compensation expense recognized for the year ended December 31, 2006 is based on awards ultimately expected to vest, it has been reduced for
estimated forfeitures. SFAS No. 123(R) requires forfeitures to be estimated at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if
actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. In the Company�s pro forma information required under SFAS No. 123 for the periods prior to
January 1, 2006, the Company accounted for forfeitures as they occurred.

The following table illustrates how equity-based compensation was allocated to the income statement as well as the effect on net income and net
income per share of all equity-based compensation recognized under SFAS No. 123(R) (in thousands except per share data):

Year Ended
December 31, 2006

Cost of revenue $ 372
Sales and marketing 1,995
Research and development 840
General and administrative 1,856
Equity-based compensation before income taxes 5,063
Income tax benefit (1,488 )
Total equity-based compensation after income taxes $ 3,575

Impact on basic earnings per share $ .27
Impact on diluted earnings per share $ .25

For purposes of calculating the fair value of options under SFAS No. 123(R), the weighted average fair value of options granted during 2006
was $13.58.  For purposes of calculating the fair value of options under SFAS No. 123, the weighted average fair values of options granted
during 2005 and 2004 were $10.31 and $8.30, respectively. The weighted average fair values for the options were based on the fair values on the
dates of grant. The fair values for the options were calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following
weighted-average assumptions and expense was adjusted using the following expected forfeiture rate assumptions:

For the Year Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004

Expected option life 3.78 years 5.00 years 5.00 years
Expected volatility factor 52 % 67 % 83 %
Expected dividend yield 0 % 0 % 0 %
Risk-free interest rate 4.65 % 3.84 % 3.41 %
Expected forfeiture rate 1.12 % 0.00 % 0.00 %

Prior to March 9, 2006, the expected life of stock options was calculated by performing a detailed analysis of all historical stock option
information available. On March 9, 2006, the Company began to grant options with a five-year legal life instead of the eight-year legal life that
had historically been used. As a result, the Company has elected to use the �simplified� method as described in SAB 107, to estimate the expected
life of options granted on and after March 9, 2006. The Company will utilize the simplified method until sufficient historical information
becomes available on the five-year legal life options. The expected volatility is calculated based on the historical volatility of the Company�s
common stock over the expected option life and other appropriate factors. The decrease in volatility is primarily due to a shorter expected option
life, over which the Company�s common stock price was less volatile. The expected dividend yield is based on the Company�s intent not to issue
dividends for the foreseeable future. Risk-free interest rates are calculated based on continuously compounded U.S. Treasury risk-free rates for
the appropriate term. The expected forfeiture rate is estimated based on historical experience. In the Company�s pro forma information required
under SFAS No. 123 for the periods prior to January 1, 2006, the Company accounted for forfeitures as they occurred.
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As of December 31, 2006, there was $7.6 million of unrecognized compensation expense related to stock options that is expected to be
recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.4 years.

The Company grants nonvested shares of common stock (�restricted stock�) to certain employees under its 1997 Stock Option and Incentive Plan
and 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan. The restricted stock generally vests 25% annually beginning one year after the grant date. The Company
records equity-based compensation expense equal to the fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant ratably over the vesting
period. Equity-based compensation expense related to restricted stock was $728,000 and $335,000 for the years ended December 31, 2006 and
2005, respectively.

As of December 31, 2006, there was $2.0 million of unrecognized compensation expense related to restricted stock awards that is expected to be
recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.6 years.  The aggregate fair value of restricted stock vested was $819,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2006. No restricted stock vested during 2005.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan (�ESPP�) compensation expense was $106,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006.  Pro-forma stock
compensation expense related to the ESPP was $70,000 and $64,000 for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

The fair value of stock compensation expense associated with our ESPP was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions:

For the Year Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004

Expected life of ESPP options 3 months 3 months 3 months
Expected volatility factor 50 % 38 % 38 %
Expected dividend yield 0 % 0 % 0 %
Risk-free interest rate 4.64 % 2.89 % 1.16 %

The following table illustrates the effect on net income and net income per share as if we had applied the fair value recognition provisions of
SFAS No. 123 to equity-based compensation during periods prior to January 1, 2006 (in thousands except per share data):

Year Ended
December 31, 2005

Year Ended
December 31, 2004

Net income, as reported $ 5,801 $ 296
Add: Equity-based employee compensation expense included in reported net income, net of
related tax effects 199 �
Deduct: Total equity-based employee compensation expense determined under fair value
method for all awards, net of related tax effects (2,078 ) (2,155 )
Pro forma net income $ 3,922 $ (1,859 )

Net income per share - basic:
As reported $ 0.47 $ 0.03
Pro forma $ 0.32 $ (0.16 )

Net income per share - diluted:
As reported $ 0.44 $ 0.02
Pro forma $ 0.30 $ (0.16 )

Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), the Company presented all tax benefits resulting from the exercise of stock options and settlement of
restricted stock awards as operating cash inflows in the consolidated statements of cash flows in accordance with the provisions of the Emerging
Issues Task Force (�EITF�) Issue No 00-15, �Classification in the Statement of Cash Flows of the Income Tax Benefit Received by a Company
upon Exercise of a Nonqualified Employee Stock Option.� SFAS No. 123(R) requires the benefits of tax deductions in excess of the
compensation cost recognized for those options and stock awards to be classified as financing cash inflows rather than operating cash inflows on
a prospective basis. This amount is shown as �Excess tax benefit from stock transactions� on the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Cash
Flows.

49

Edgar Filing: VITAL IMAGES INC - Form 10-K

77



Edgar Filing: VITAL IMAGES INC - Form 10-K

78



The Company�s adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) using the modified prospective application required the Company to determine the amount of
eligible windfall tax benefits (the pool of windfall tax benefits) that are available on the adoption date to offset future shortfalls. The Company
has elected to calculate their historical pool of windfall tax benefits (i.e., the amount that would have accumulated as of the adoption date of
SFAS No. 123(R)) using the alternative (�short-cut�) method, as provided in FSP No. FAS 123(R)-3, and the �tax law ordering approach� to
determine when the historic tax benefits are realized (tax benefits realized based on provisions in the tax law that identify the sequence in which
stock option deductions are utilized for tax purposes). Subsequent to the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), the Company will continue to track the
balance of the pool of windfall tax benefits based on windfalls or shortfalls incurred after the adoption date.

Research and development costs

Costs related to research, design and development of products are charged to research and development expense as incurred. Software
development costs are capitalized beginning when a product�s technological feasibility has been established and ending when a product is
available for general release to customers. The Company uses the working model approach to determine technological feasibility. Generally, the
Company�s products are released soon after technological feasibility has been established. As a result, the Company has not capitalized any
software development costs, since such costs have not been significant.

Income taxes

The Company provides for income taxes using the liability method under SFAS No. 109, �Accounting for Income Taxes,� which requires
recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been included in the financial
statements. Under this statement, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the difference between the financial statement and
tax basis of assets and liabilities, using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. Deferred tax
assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when it is more likely than not that some component or all of the deferred tax assets will not be
realized. Tax rate changes are reflected in income during the period such changes are enacted.

Computation of net income per share

Basic earnings per share is computed using net income and the weighted average number of common shares outstanding. Diluted earnings per
share reflect the weighted average number of common shares outstanding plus any potentially dilutive shares outstanding during the period.
Potentially dilutive shares consist of shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options and warrants, as well as unvested restricted stock.
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The computations for basic and diluted net income per share are as follows (in thousands, except per share amounts):

For the Year Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004

Numerator:
Net income $ 6,583 $ 5,801 $ 296

Denominator:
Denominator for weighted average common shares outstanding � basic 13,463 12,379 11,632

Dilution associated with common stock warrants � � 5

Dilution associated with the company�sstock based compensation plans 779 905 898

Dilution associated with contingent stock consideration relating to acquisition of
HInnovation, Inc. (see note 3) 17 � �

Denominator:
Denominator for weighted average common shares outstanding � diluted 14,259 13,284 12,535

Net income per share � basic $ 0.49 $ 0.47 $ 0.03
Net income per share � diluted $ 0.46 $ 0.44 $ 0.02

Antidilutive stock options and restricted stockawards excluded from above calculation 379 230 545

Comprehensive income

Comprehensive income as defined by SFAS No. 130, �Reporting Comprehensive Income,� includes net income and items defined as other
comprehensive income. SFAS No. 130 requires that items defined as other comprehensive income, such as foreign currency translation
adjustments and unrealized gains and losses on certain marketable securities, be separately classified in the financial statements. Such items are
reported in the consolidated statements of stockholders� equity as comprehensive income.

New accounting pronouncements

In June 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, �Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, an interpretation of FASB Statement
No. 109� (�FIN 48�). FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an enterprise�s financial statements and
prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or
expected to be taken in a tax return. FIN 48 also provides related guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in
interim periods and disclosure. FIN 48 is effective for the Company beginning January 1, 2007. The Company is currently evaluating the impact
of FIN 48 and does not expect a significant or material impact from its adoption.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, �Fair Value Measurements� (�SFAS No. 157�), which defines fair value, establishes a
framework for measuring fair value in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and expands disclosures about fair value
measurements. SFAS No. 157 applies to other accounting standards that require or permit fair value measurements. Accordingly, it does not
require any new fair value measurement. SFAS No. 157 will be effective for the Company on January 1, 2008. The Company is currently
evaluating the impact the adoption of SFAS No. 157 will have on its financial position and results of operations.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, �The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities� (�SFAS No. 159�), which
permits entities to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value that are not currently required to be
measured at fair value. SFAS No. 159 will be effective for the Company on January 1, 2008. The Company is currently evaluating the impact
the adoption of SFAS No.
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159 will have on its financial position and results of operations.

3.   Acquisition

The following acquisition was accounted for under the purchase method of accounting under SFAS No. 141, �Business Combinations,� and
accordingly, the assets and liabilities acquired were recorded at their estimated fair values at the effective date of the acquisition, and the results
of operations have been included in the consolidated statements of operations since the acquisition date. In accordance with SFAS No. 142,
�Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,� goodwill recorded as a result of the acquisition is subject to an annual impairment test.

HInnovation, Inc.

On February 18, 2004, the Company completed the acquisition of HInnovation, Inc. (�HInnovation�) in accordance with the terms and conditions
of an Acquisition Agreement and Plan of Reorganization (the �Acquisition Agreement�) dated as of January 8, 2004. HInnovation is a provider of
software solutions that allow physicians to use PCs or notebook computers to access 2D, 3D and 4D medical imaging applications securely over
the Internet. The acquisition of HInnovation was made to acquire products and technology that will enable the Company to more effectively
compete in the distributed computing market for 2D/3D/4D visualization and analysis software.

The total purchase price of the HInnovation acquisition was approximately $12.6 million. The Company acquired all of the outstanding common
stock of HInnovation in exchange for $5.8 million in cash paid and 376,262 newly issued shares of common stock issued to the stockholders of
HInnovation. The common stock was valued at $6.1 million for accounting purposes. The Company�s stock was valued at $16.2375 per share,
which was equal to the average of the closing sale prices of one share of the Company�s stock as reported on the Nasdaq National Market (now
known as the Nasdaq Global Market) for the two consecutive trading days occurring before the first public announcement of the signing of the
Acquisition Agreement and the two consecutive trading days occurring immediately after such public announcement date. The Company
incurred $360,000 in direct costs of the acquisition and assumed $382,000 of liabilities. The Company did not assume any stock options or
warrants.

The Company had a contingent consideration agreement related to its acquisition of HInnovation in February 2004. The maximum potential
contingent consideration was initially $6.0 million with three different contingent consideration criteria.  Two of the contingent consideration
criteria, based upon achieving revenue targets for the HInnovation products by March 2005 and licensing products using patents held by
HInnovation by February 2006, were not met and expired.  The third contingent consideration criteria, based on the commercial launch of
certain Vitrea® software capabilities within the ViTALConnect® software platform, which is the successor to HInnovation�s platform
application known as �Iconnection,� were met on August 30, 2006.  As a result, the Company paid to the former shareholders of HInnovation
contingent stock consideration consisting of 106,398 shares of the Company�s common stock, which, per the Acquisition Agreement, was
determined by dividing $3.0 million by the average closing price of the Company�s common stock on the ten consecutive trading days ended on
August 29, 2006, which is the day immediately prior to August 30, 2006.  The common stock was valued at $3.1 million for accounting
purposes, which was based on the average of the closing sale prices of the Company�s common stock for several consecutive trading days
occurring immediately before and immediately after August 30, 2006. The contingent payments resulted in a $3.1 million increase in goodwill. 
The Acquisition Agreement provides for no additional consideration to be paid to the former HInnovation shareholders.

The purchase price was allocated to the identified assets of HInnovation. A third-party appraisal firm assisted the Company with the valuation of
the identified intangible assets. The valuation resulted in the allocation of $6.9 million to identifiable intangible assets, which will be amortized
over periods ranging from three to seven years. The valuation also resulted in the identification of $1.0 million of acquired in-process research
and development (�IPR&D�) costs, which were immediately expensed on the closing date and represent a non-deductible charge for income tax
purposes.

At the time of acquisition, HInnovation had development projects in process, including the collaboration module of its Web-based product (the
�Collaboration Module Project�). The Collaboration Module Project involves the design and development of innovative features for Web-based
consultation meetings with interactive and synchronized viewing of full-quality images, annotation and mouse movement. The Collaboration
Module Project includes significant and innovative advancements to the HInnovation software platform in the areas of network synchronization
of high quality images and user privilege management for online collaboration. The design, verification and other processes involved in the
Collaboration Module Project require tools and skills that are new to HInnovation. The appraisal referenced above estimated that $1.0 million of
the purchase price represents the fair value of purchased IPR&D related to the Collaboration Module Project that has not yet reached
technological
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feasibility and has no alternative future uses. This amount was expensed as a non-recurring, non-tax-deductible charge upon consummation of
the acquisition.

The appraisal firm applied the income valuation approach to assist the Company in determining the estimated fair value of the purchased
IPR&D. These estimates were based on the following assumptions:

•  The estimated revenue was based upon HInnovation�s estimate of revenue growth over the next seven years
from the revenue growth of primarily the Collaboration Module Project.

•  The estimated gross margin of 65% to 78% was based upon gross margin for comparable products.

•  The estimated selling, general and administrative expenses were based on a consideration of historical
operating expenses as a percentage of revenue and HInnovation�s projected operating expenses.

•  The cost to complete each project was based on estimated remaining labor hours and a fully-burdened labor
cost and other direct expenses.

•  The discount rate used in the alternative income valuation approach was based on the weighted average cost
of capital (�WACC�). The WACC calculation produces the average required rate of return of an investment in an
operating enterprise based on various required rates of return from investments in various areas of that enterprise. The
discount rate used in the alternative valuation approach was 35%. Premiums were added to the WACC to account for
the inherent risks in the development of the products, the risks of the products being completed on schedule, and the
risk of the eventual sales of the product meeting the expectations of HInnovation.

The first phase of the Collaboration Module Project was released in the third quarter of 2004. The first phase provided basic collaboration
between users, allowing one user to present to another user. The second phase of the Collaboration Module Project provided two-way
collaboration between users, allowing both users to interact with the data, and was released in the third quarter of 2005.

The total initial purchase price is as follows (in thousands, except share amounts):

Fair value of common stock issued (376,262 shares) $ 6,109
Cash paid to HInnovation shareholders 5,753
Direct acquisition costs 360
Liabilities assumed 382

$ 12,604

The allocation of the total purchase price is as follows (in thousands):

Existing software technology, subject to amortization - 5 year life $ 3,400
Patent and patent applications, subject to amortization - 7 year life 3,000
Non-compete/employment agreements, subject to amortization - 3 year life 500
Goodwill 6,053
In-process research and development costs 1,000
Deferred tax liabilities, net (1,405 )
Fair value of assets acquired 51
Fair value of cash acquired 5

$ 12,604

The following factors contributed to a purchase price that resulted in the recognition of goodwill:

•  HInnovation had the first Web-based product in the Company�s market.
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•  HInnovation had a patent and patent applications that cover certain important aspects of the underlying
technology.

•  HInnovation also had unique technology under development that was included as part of the acquired
IPR&D.
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The following unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated income statements have been prepared as if the acquisition of HInnovation had
occurred as of the beginning of the periods presented. Pro forma adjustments relate to amortization of identified intangible assets, acquired
IPR&D and income taxes. The unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated results of operations are for comparative purposes only and are not
necessarily indicative of results that would have occurred had the acquisition occurred as of the beginning of the periods presented, nor are they
necessarily indicative of future results.

For the Year Ended
December 31, 2004 (in
thousands, except per
share amount)

Revenue $ 36,150
Net income 1,173
Net income per share - diluted $ 0.09

4.  Financial statement components

Allowance for doubtful accounts

The allowance for doubtful accounts activity was as follows (in thousands):

For the Year Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004

Beginning balance $ 320 $ 767 $ 235
Provision 25 (159 ) 627
Write-offs (87 ) (288 ) (95 )
Recoveries 8 � �
Ending balance $ 266 $ 320 $ 767

Property and equipment, net

The components of property and equipment were as follows (in thousands):

December 31,
2006 2005

Equipment $ 11,207 $ 7,496
Furniture and fixtures 3,042 2,173
Computer software 2,291 1,105
Leasehold improvements 2,300 1,312
Total property and equipment 18,840 12,086
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (9,598 ) (6,725 )
Property and equipment, net $ 9,242 $ 5,361

Depreciation and amortization expense was $2.9 million, $2.1 million and $1.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively.

Licensed technology, net

In July 2001, the Company entered into an agreement to license technology from a third party. The Company paid an aggregate of $750,000 to
the licensor in 2001. The Company recorded this $750,000 purchase as licensed technology and is amortizing it over the estimated useful life of
the technology of 75 months. This amortization expense is reported as cost of revenue for license fees. As part of this agreement, the Company
is also obligated to pay the licensor royalties on the sales of certain products as defined in the agreement. During 2006, 2005 and 2004, $1.8
million, $1.4 million and $1.0 million, respectively, of such royalties were incurred and were reported as cost of revenue for license fees.
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The components of licensed technology were as follows (in thousands):

December 31,
2006 2005

Licensed technology $ 750 $ 750
Less accumulated amortization (660 ) (540 )
Licensed technology, net $ 90 $ 210

Amortization expense was $120,000 for each of the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004.

Other intangible assets, net

Acquired intangible assets subject to amortization were as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 2006 December 31, 2005
Gross Carrying
Value

Accumulated 
Amortization

Net Carrying 
Value

Gross Carrying 
Value

Accumulated 
Amortization

Net Carrying 
Value

 Existing software technology $ 3,400 $ (1,966 ) $ 1,434 $ 3,400 $ (1,282 ) $ 2,118
 Patents and patent applications 3,000 (1,242 ) 1,758 3,000 (810 ) 2,190
 Non-compete/employment
agreements 500 (483 ) 17 500 (315 ) 185
 Total intangible assets subject
to amortization $ 6,900 $ (3,691 ) $ 3,209 $ 6,900 $ (2,407 ) $ 4,493

Intangible assets subject to amortization are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated period of benefit. Amortization expense was
$1.3 million, $1.3 million and $1.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.  The estimated future annual
amortization expense for identified intangible assets is as follows (in thousands):

2007 $ 1,133
2008 1,116
2009 498
2010 432
2011 30

$ 3,209

The preceding expected amortization expense is an estimate. Actual amortization expense may differ from estimates due to additional intangible
asset acquisitions, impairment of intangible assets, accelerated amortization of intangible assets, and other events.

Goodwill

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the year ended December 31, 2006 are as follows (in thousands):

Balance as of December 31, 2005 $ 6,053
Contingent consideration earned (see note 3) 3,084
Reversal of tax valuation allowance relating to HInnovation (48 )
Balance as of December 31, 2006 $ 9,089
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Deferred revenue

The components of deferred revenue were as follows (in thousands):

December 31,
2006 2005

Maintenance and support $ 10,750 $ 7,137
Training 4,272 3,529
Installation 476 224
Software 409 592
Hardware and other 398 394
Total deferred revenue 16,305 11,876
Less current portion (15,131 ) (11,231 )
Long-term portion of deferred revenue $ 1,174 $ 645

5.  Commitments and contingencies

Operating lease commitments

The Company rents office space and certain office equipment under operating leases. In addition to minimum lease payments, the office leases
require payment of a proportionate share of real estate taxes and building operating expenses. Total rent expense, including an allocation of the
lessor�s operating costs, was $1.2 million, $635,000 and $715,000 for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

In March 2004, the Company signed a non-cancelable operating lease for a new office facility in Minnetonka, Minnesota. The new lease term
started in February 2005 and expires in January 2012. The Company moved into the Minnetonka location and moved out of its Plymouth,
Minnesota location in February 2005. The Company�s office lease in Plymouth expired on July 31, 2005 with the exception of a small portion of
the space that was under lease until May 31, 2006. Under the terms of the new lease, the Minnetonka lessor paid the monthly base rent payments
and taxes and operating cost rent obligation payments for the Company�s former office facility in Plymouth beginning February 2005.

The Company recorded deferred rent of $1.6 million in the first quarter of 2005 relating to estimated payments by the Minnetonka lessor for the
benefit of the Company. Such payments are considered lease incentives under FASB Technical Bulletin (�FTB�) 88-1, �Issues Relating to
Accounting for Leases,� and are amortized as a reduction of rent expense over the term of the Minnetonka lease. Payments by the Minnetonka
lessor for the benefit of the Company consisted of the following:

•  $405,000 relating to lease payments made by the Minnetonka lessor to the Plymouth lessor; under FTB 88-1,
such payments were recorded as a lease loss by the Company in the first quarter of 2005. Additionally, the Company
recorded $88,000 of other costs relating to the Plymouth lease, resulting in a total loss on operating lease of $493,000.

•  $205,000 relating to moving costs reimbursed to the Company by the Minnetonka lessor; moving costs were
expensed as incurred during the first quarter of 2005.

•  $975,000 relating to leasehold improvements paid for by the Minnetonka lessor; under FTB 88-1, such
leasehold improvements were recorded as an asset by the Company and amortized over the shorter of their estimated
useful lives or the remaining terms of the related leases.

During the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company expanded its Minnetonka headquarters and received leasehold improvements paid for
by the Minnetonka lessor of $561,000. Such leasehold improvements were recorded as an asset by the Company and amortized over the shorter
of their estimated useful lives or the remaining terms of the related leases with a corresponding amount recorded as deferred rent and amortized
as a reduction of rent expense over the term of the Minnetonka lease.

The deferred rent balance was $1.8 million ($313,000 was classified as current) and $1.4 million ($187,000 was classified as current) as of
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
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The minimum lease payments, excluding estimated taxes and operating cost rent obligations, are approximately (in thousands):

2007 $ 1,010
2008 902
2009 869
2010 888
2011 907
2012 76
Total $ 4,652

Agreement with R2 Technology, Inc.

In April 2005, the Company entered into an agreement with R2 Technology, Inc. (�R2�) to market R2�s lung nodule CAD software product to the
Company�s customers. The April 2005 agreement replaced the Company�s November 2002 agreement with R2. Under the April 2005 agreement,
the Company committed to provide R2 with certain minimum quarterly sales (�Applicable Minimums�) from certain R2 lung CAD related
products and services (�R2 Lung CAD Products�) over a 12-quarter period ending June 30, 2008. The Company will receive a commission based
on sales of R2 Lung CAD Products to the Company�s customers. To the extent the quarterly Applicable Minimum is not met, the Company will
pay R2 the difference between the Applicable Minimum and the actual R2 Lung CAD Product sales achieved.

The Applicable Minimums for the quarters ended September 30, 2005, December 31, 2005 and March 31, 2006 were $414,000 per quarter.
Beginning in the quarter ended June 30, 2006 and for each subsequent quarter thereafter, the Applicable Minimum will be equal to the
immediately preceding quarter unless the Applicable Minimum for the immediately preceding quarter was not met, at which time the Applicable
Minimum will be reduced to the lower of:

i.  the Applicable Minimum of the preceding quarter multiplied by the percent by which the product sales generated
in the preceding quarter fell below that quarter�s Applicable Minimum, up to a maximum decline of twenty-three
percent (23%); or

ii.  two times the product sales generated by R2 during the preceding quarter through all other sales, marketing and
distribution channels, excluding product sales generated under the agreement.

If at any time during the remainder of the agreement term, the Applicable Minimum is less than $414,000 and R2 Lung CAD Product sales for a
quarter exceed $414,000, the Applicable Minimum for the next quarter will revert to $414,000. Thereafter, the Applicable Minimums will be
subject to the above adjustment. Additionally, at the end of every fourth quarter under the agreement, if the aggregate sales generated under the
agreement in the previous four quarters exceeded that period�s aggregate Applicable Minimums, the remaining Applicable Minimum per quarter
will be reduced by the amount of the excess divided by the number of quarters remaining under the agreement.

The Applicable Minimum for the quarter ended June 30, 2006 was not met by approximately $255,000.  As a result, the Company recorded a
$167,000 expense to sales and marketing expense in the quarter ended June 30, 2006 to cover actual losses through June 30, 2006. The $167,000
expense was based on the second quarter of 2006 shortfall of $255,000 offset by $88,000 of deferred commission fees on sales as of June 30,
2006.  Additionally, based on information available to the Company, R2 had not generated any R2 Lung CAD Product sales during the quarter
ended June 30, 2006 through any other sales, marketing and distribution channels, other than sales generated from customers under this
agreement.  As a result, the Applicable Minimum for the quarter ended September 30, 2006 was $0.  The Applicable Minimum will be adjusted
only if at any time during the remainder of the agreement R2 Lung CAD Product sales for a quarter exceeds $414,000, as described above.  R2
Lung CAD Product sales for the quarter ended September 30, 2006 were approximately $135,000; as a result, the Applicable Minimum for the
quarter ended December 31, 2006 was $0. R2 Lung CAD Product sales for the quarter ended December 31, 2006 were approximately $203,000;
as a result, the Applicable Minimum for the quarter ending March 31, 2007 is $0.

The Applicable Minimum for the quarter ended December 31, 2005 was not met by approximately $314,000 and, based on the then current
estimates utilizing all information available, management believed it was probable that the estimated Applicable Minimum would not be met for
the quarter ended March 31, 2006. Additionally, management estimated that the Applicable Minimum would be $0 after March 31, 2006
because, based on information available to the Company, R2 had not generated any R2 Lung CAD Product sales through any other sales,
marketing and distribution channels, other than R2 Lung CAD Product sales generated from customers under this agreement. As a result, the
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Company recorded a $410,000 expense to sales and marketing expense in the quarter ended December 31, 2005 relating to this agreement to
cover estimated losses through March 31, 2006. The $410,000 expense was based on the fourth quarter of 2005 shortfall of $314,000 and first
quarter of 2006 Applicable Minimum of $414,000 offset by estimated forecasted sales of $140,000, deferred commission fees on sales as of
December 31, 2005 of $142,000 and estimated deferred commission fee on forecasted sales of $36,000.  The Applicable Minimum for the
quarter ended March 31, 2006 was met. Based on the then current estimates utilizing all information available, management believed that it was
probable that the estimated Applicable Minimum would be met for the quarter ended June 30,
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2006, and there was no indication as of March 31, 2006 that the estimated aggregate Applicable Minimums for subsequent quarters under the
agreement would not be met.  As a result, during the quarter ended March 31, 2006, the Company reversed $236,000 of the $410,000 expense
recorded to sales and marketing expense recorded in the fourth quarter of 2005.  The remaining expense of $174,000 was based on the fourth
quarter of 2005 shortfall of $314,000 offset by the $140,000 of deferred commission fees on sales as of December 31, 2005.

The estimated future aggregate Applicable Minimums is a highly subjective determination, and actual results and any changes to estimates could
have an adverse impact on the Company�s financial position and results of operations.  The Company may not generate sufficient sales to meet
the minimum contractual commitment for any particular quarter, and thus it may have to pay cash to R2 for the deficit.  As of December 31,
2006, the remaining potential aggregate Applicable Minimums ranged from a minimum of $0 to a maximum of approximately $2.1 million.  If
the Company foresees that it will not be able to attain the minimum contractual commitment on a continued basis, it may have to take a charge
to earnings, which could be up to the amount of the maximum remaining total commitment.  Any future losses would be recorded under SFAS
No. 5, �Accounting for Contingencies,� which requires the amount to be probable and estimable.

The Company has not recognized any commission revenue relating to this agreement, as it was not considered to be fixed or determinable due to
the potential for payments by the Company to R2 relating to the Applicable Minimums.

As of July 13, 2006, R2 was acquired by Hologic, Inc.

Other items

Under general contract terms, the Company includes an indemnification clause in its software licensing agreement that indemnifies the licensee
against liability and damages arising from any claims of patent, copyright, trademark or trade secret infringement by the Company�s software.
The Company has incurred insignificant costs as a result of this type of indemnification clause, and the Company does not maintain a product
warranty liability related to such indemnification clauses.

The Company has entered into various employment agreements with certain executives of the Company, which include provisions for severance
payments subject to certain conditions and events.

The Company is involved in various claims and legal actions in the normal course of business. Management is of the opinion that the outcome of
such legal actions will not have a significant adverse effect on the Company�s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
Notwithstanding management�s belief, an unfavorable resolution of some or all of these matters could materially affect our future results of
operations or cash flows.

6.  Stockholders� equity

Background

On October 28, 1996, the Board of Directors of Bio-Vascular, Inc. (�Bio-Vascular�), now known as Synovis Life Technologies, Inc., the former
parent of the Company, approved a plan to spin off and establish the Company as an independent, publicly-owned company. On May 12, 1997
(the �Distribution Date�), Bio-Vascular distributed all of the shares of the Company to the shareholders of Bio-Vascular (the �Distribution�), and on
that date the Company began operating as an independent public company. All Bio-Vascular shareholders of record as of May 5, 1997 received
one share of the Company�s common stock for each two shares of Bio-Vascular stock held on that date and cash in lieu of fractional shares.

Private placement

In June 2003, the Company completed a private placement of 1.5 million shares of common stock at $13.50 per share for total gross proceeds of
$20.3 million. After deducting offering costs of $1.3 million, the Company received net proceeds of $19.0 million. A registration statement
covering the resale of these shares was declared effective on September 29, 2003 by the Securities and Exchange Commission. Effective
March 1, 2006, we de-registered the resale of these shares not already sold.

Public offering of common stock

During the fourth quarter of 2006, the Company completed a public offering of 3.4 million shares of common stock at $31.00 per share for total
gross proceeds of $104.0 million.  After deducting offering costs of $6.3 million, the Company received net proceeds of $97.7 million.
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Stock option plans

In May 1997, Bio-Vascular, Inc., which is now known as Synovis Life Technologies, Inc., as the sole shareholder of the Company, approved
and adopted the Vital Images, Inc. 1997 Stock Option and Incentive Plan (the �Stock Option Plan�), which became effective on the Distribution
Date. Under the terms of the Stock Option Plan, the Board of Directors or a committee of the Board may grant options and other equity-based
awards to key employees to purchase shares of the Company�s common stock at an option exercise price equal to or greater than 85% of the fair
market value on the date of grant. The options are exercisable at such times, in installments or otherwise, as the Board of Directors or a
committee of the Board may determine. Generally, these options have a term of five or eight years and are exercisable as to 28% of the total
grant one year after the date of grant and 2% per month thereafter. The total number of shares of common stock that may be issued or awarded
under the Stock Option Plan is 4,100,000 shares. As of December 31, 2006, there were 395,005 shares available for grant under the Stock
Option Plan.

Also in May 1997, Bio-Vascular, as the sole shareholder of the Company, approved and adopted the Vital Images, Inc. 1997 Director Stock
Option Plan (the �Director Plan�), which became effective on the Distribution Date. The Director Plan provides non-employee directors with
automatic grants of stock options and allows the Board of Directors to make additional discretionary option grants to any or all directors.
Options that are granted under the Director Plan are granted with an option price equal to the fair market value on the date of grant, have a term
of five or eight years, are non-qualified options and become exercisable in three equal annual installments beginning on the first occurring
December 31 after the date of grant. The total number of shares of common stock that may be issued or awarded under the Director Plan is
500,000 shares. As of December 31, 2006, there were 135,000 shares available for grant under the Director Plan.

On May 4, 2006, the shareholders of the Company approved the Vital Images, Inc. 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the �2006 Plan�). The 2006
Plan provides that the total number of shares of the Company�s common stock that may be subject to options, restricted stock awards and other
equity awards granted under the 2006 Plan shall not exceed 900,000 shares. The 2006 Plan provides the Board of Directors or a committee of the
Board the authority to grant incentive stock options qualified as such under Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and nonqualified
stock options, awards of restricted stock, stock appreciation rights, other equity-based awards, cash-based awards or any combination of such
awards subject to the terms of the 2006 Plan. As of December 31, 2006, there were 900,000 shares available for the grant of awards under the
2006 Plan.
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The following table summarizes stock option activity for 2006, 2005 and 2004:

Shares Underlying
Options

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price Per
Share

Weighted-Average
Remaining
Contractual Term
(in years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value
(in thousands)

Total outstanding as of December 31, 2003 2,440,972 $ 7.05

Options granted 514,100 $ 12.29
Options exercised (456,380 ) $ 4.32
Options cancelled (172,017 ) $ 9.80

Total outstanding as of December 31, 2004 2,326,675 $ 8.54

Options granted 509,315 $ 17.60
Options exercised (711,288 ) $ 6.33
Options cancelled (127,427 ) $ 11.45

Total outstanding as of December 31, 2005 1,997,275 $ 11.45

Options granted 383,300 $ 31.15
Options exercised (564,286 ) $ 9.17
Options cancelled (19,110 ) $ 23.33

Total outstanding as of December 31, 2006 1,797,179 $ 16.24 4.54 $ 33,359

Options exercisable as of:
December 31, 2004 1,409,650 $ 6.74
December 31, 2005 1,185,463 $ 9.03
December 31, 2006 1,064,923 $ 11.39 4.02 $ 24,927

Various price ranges and weighted average information for options outstanding and exercisable as of December 31, 2006 are as follows:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Range of
Exercise Prices

Number
Outstanding

Weighted Average
Remaining
Contractual Life
(in years)

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Number
Exercisable

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

$4.09 - $5.70 116,750 1.63 $ 4.93 116,750 $ 4.93
$5.75 - $7.25 267,815 3.18 $ 7.23 267,635 $ 7.23
$7.34 - $9.94 239,659 3.21 $ 8.82 229,463 $ 8.79
$9.95 - $15.40 314,835 5.42 $ 13.13 158,158 $ 12.94
$15.50 - $16.98 228,430 5.87 $ 16.64 131,005 $ 16.72
$17.75 - $19.64 246,300 6.25 $ 19.33 135,604 $ 19.30
$19.80 - $32.14 327,390 4.44 $ 30.44 20,308 $ 26.66
$32.46 - $35.00 56,000 5.54 $ 33.86 6,000 $ 35.00

1,797,179 4.54 $ 16.24 1,064,923 $ 11.39

The aggregate intrinsic value of options (the amount by which the market price of the stock on the date of exercise exceeded the exercise price
of the option) exercised during the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $12.8 million, $9.0 million and $4.3 million,
respectively. Cash received from the exercise of stock options for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $5.2 million, $4.5
million and $2.0 million, respectively. The total tax benefit realized for the tax deductions from options exercised for the years ended December
31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $4.4 million, $3.4 million and $1.4 million, respectively.
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Restricted stock

The Company grants nonvested shares of common stock (�restricted stock�) to certain employees under the Stock Option Plan. The restricted
stock generally vests 25% annually beginning one year after the grant date.  The following table summarizes the restricted stock activity for the
year ended December 31, 2006 and 2005:

Restricted Shares

Weighted-Average
Grant Date Fair
Value Per Share

Total outstanding as of December 31, 2004 �
Shares granted 119,245 $ 17.54
Shares vested �
Shares forfeited/cancelled (3,777 ) $ 15.99
Total outstanding as of December 31, 2005 114,770 $ 17.61
Shares granted 33,910 $ 31.76
Shares vested (29,226 ) $ 17.51
Shares forfeited/cancelled (3,777 ) $ 21.44
Total outstanding as of December 31, 2006 115,677 $ 21.65

The total tax benefit realized for the tax deductions from restricted stock vested during the year ended December 31, 2006 was $315,000.

Employee stock purchase plan

The 1997 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the �ESPP�) was approved and adopted by Bio-Vascular, as the sole shareholder of the Company, in
May 1997. The ESPP, which became effective on July 1, 1997, enables eligible employees to purchase the Company�s common stock at a price
equal to 85% of the fair market value of the stock on the date an offering period commences or on the date an offering period terminates,
whichever is lower. Under the ESPP, an aggregate of up to 250,000 shares of common stock can be issued and sold to participating employees
of the Company through a series of three-month offering periods, beginning July 1, 1997. The ESPP covers substantially all employees, subject
to certain limitations. Each employee may elect to have up to 10% of his or her base pay withheld and applied toward the purchase of shares in
each such offering period.   As of December 31, 2006, there were 52,451 shares of common stock reserved for future purchases under the ESPP.

Rights plan

In April 1997, the Company declared a dividend distribution of one Preferred Stock Purchase Right for each outstanding share of the Company�s
common stock (the �Rights�). With certain exceptions, the Rights become exercisable only if one of the following events occurs: (i) an acquiring
party accumulates 15% or more of the Company�s common stock, (ii) a party announces an offer to acquire 15% or more of the Company�s
common stock, or (iii) the acquisition of a substantial amount of the Company�s common stock by a person whom the Board of Directors has
determined is an �Adverse Person� as defined in the underlying Rights Agreement. Each Right entitles the holder to purchase one-thousandth of a
share of the Company�s Series A Junior Preferred Stock at a price of $20.00 (the �Exercise Price�). If a person or group becomes the beneficial
owner of 15% or more of the Company�s common stock or the Board of Directors determines that a person is an Adverse Person, each holder of
a Right shall thereafter have the right to receive preferred stock having a fair market value equal to two times the Exercise Price. Upon the
occurrence of certain mergers, combinations or acquisitions of the Company�s assets, each holder of a Right shall thereafter have the right to
receive that number of shares of common stock of the acquiring company which equals the Exercise Price of the Right divided by one-half of the
current market price of such common stock as of the date of the occurrence of the event. The Company is generally entitled to redeem the Right
at $.001 per Right at any time until 10 days following the acquisition of 15% or more of the Company�s common stock or 10 days after the point
at which the Company�s Board of Directors determines that a person is an Adverse Person, as defined by the Rights Agreement. The Rights
expire on April 30, 2007 if not previously redeemed or exercised.
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7.     Income taxes

The components of income before income taxes were as follows (in thousands):

For the Year Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004

Income before income taxes:
U.S. $ 9,951 $ 8,571 $ 1,027
International 322 61 (144 )

10,273 8,632 883

The income tax provision included the following components (in thousands):

For the Year Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004

Current income taxes:
Federal $ 91 $ 48 $ 25
State 48 36 5
Foreign 79 � �

218 84 30
Deferred income taxes:
Federal 3,181 2,613 513
State 218 159 44
Foreign 73 (25 ) �

3,472 2,747 557
Provision for income taxes $ 3,690 $ 2,831 $ 587

A reconciliation of the Company�s income tax provision computed using the federal statutory rate to the tax provision reported in the Company�s
statements of operations is as follows (in thousands):

For the Year Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004

Tax provision computed at the federal statutory rate $ 3,493 $ 2,935 $ 300
State taxes, net of federal benefit 378 299 94
Increase (decrease) in tax from:
Stock-based compensation 334 � �
Research and development tax credits (562 ) (362 ) (319 )
Business meals and entertainment 75 41 46
Extraterritorial income exclusion (38 ) (27 ) �
Foreign tax rate differential (5 ) (5 ) �
Acquired in-process research and development � � 340
Change in state tax rate � (104 ) (54 )
Change in valuation allowance (25 ) 47 226
Other, net 40 7 (46 )
Provision for income taxes $ 3,690 $ 2,831 $ 587
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The significant components of the Company�s tax-effected net deferred tax assets were as follows (in thousands):

December 31,
2006 2005

Current:
Accrued expenses and allowances $ 465 $ 555
Stock-based compensation 1,196 162
Total current $ 1,661 $ 717

Noncurrent:
Net operating loss carryforwards $ 6,218 $ 7,760
Research and development tax credit carryforwards 2,896 2,365
Depreciation and amortization 633 516
Deferred revenue 428 235
Identified intangible assets (1,172 ) (1,641 )
Other, net 151 3
Net deferred tax assets before valuation allowance 9,154 9,238
Less valuation allowance (185 ) (289 )
Total noncurrent $ 8,969 $ 8,949

Net operating loss carryforwards and other tax credit carryforwards as of December 31, 2006

The Company had federal tax loss carryforwards of approximately $17.7 million, representing a $6.0 million deferred tax asset as of
December 31, 2006. Of the total federal tax loss carryforward, $10.0 million was generated through the exercise of stock options. The federal tax
loss carryforwards will expire in 2010 through 2023 if not utilized. The Company estimates that it is more likely than not that this deferred tax
asset will be realized prior to expiration.

The Company had state tax loss carryforwards of approximately $3.7 million, representing a $211,000 deferred tax asset as of December 31,
2006. The state tax loss carryforwards will expire at various dates through 2023 if not utilized. The Company had a $22,000 valuation allowance
related to this deferred tax asset as of December 31, 2006 due to the uncertainty in realization prior to expiration.

The Company had other federal and state tax credits and carryforwards of approximately $2.9 million, representing a $2.7 million deferred tax
asset as of December 31, 2006. The federal and state credits and carryforwards will expire in 2007 through 2025 if not utilized. The Company
had a $163,000 valuation allowance related to this deferred tax asset as of December 31, 2006 due to the uncertainty in realization prior to
expiration.

During the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company reversed $25,000 of the valuation allowance relating to state tax loss carryforwards as
it was more likely than not that the deferred tax asset would be realized prior to expiration.  During the year ended December 31, 2006, the
Company wrote-off $79,000 to the valuation allowance related to research and development tax credits that had expired prior to realization.

Activity during the year ended December 31, 2006

The Company�s methodology for determining the realizability of its deferred tax assets involves estimates of future taxable income from its core
business, the estimated impact of future tax deductions from the exercise of stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2006, and the
expiration dates and amounts of net operating loss carryforwards and other tax credits. These estimates are projected through the life of the
related deferred tax assets based on assumptions which management believes to be reasonable and consistent with current operating results.

Although the Company had cumulative pre-tax income for financial reporting purposes for the three years ended December 31, 2006, the
Company did not pay any significant income taxes over that period due to tax deductions from the exercise of stock options as well as its
utilization of net operating losses. In assessing the realizability of its deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2006, the Company considered
evidence regarding its ability to generate sufficient future taxable income to realize its deferred tax assets. The primary evidence considered
included the cumulative pre-tax income for financial reporting purposes for the past three years; the estimated impact of future tax deductions
from the exercise of stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2006; and the estimated future taxable income based on historical operating
results.

After giving consideration to these factors, the Company concluded that it was more likely than not that the tax loss carryforwards will be
realized prior to expiration and that other tax credits that expire prior to 2010 will not be
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utilized due to the estimated future tax deductions from the exercise of stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2006 as well as utilization
of tax loss carryforwards. The Company had a valuation allowance of $185,000 as of December 31, 2006 relating to net operating losses and tax
credits that expire prior to 2010.

The Company also concluded that it was more likely than not that the net deferred tax assets of $10.6 million as of December 31, 2006 and the
estimated future tax deductions from the exercise of stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2006 would be utilized prior to expiring.
Based on this conclusion, the Company would require approximately $53.6 million in cumulative future taxable income to be generated at
various times over the next 20 years to realize the related net deferred tax assets of $10.6 million as of December 31, 2006 as well as the
estimated future tax deductions from the exercise of stock options outstanding and in-the-money as of December 31, 2006.

If the Company adjusts either its estimates of future taxable income or tax deductions from the exercise of stock options down, or the Company�s
stock price increases significantly without an increase in taxable income, causing the Company to believe that its deferred tax assets will not be
utilized, the Company may need to establish additional valuation allowances on its deferred tax assets, which could materially impact its
financial position and results of operations.

Activity during the year ended December 31, 2005

The Company concluded that it was more likely than not that tax loss carryforwards that expire in 2006 and other tax credits that expire prior to
2010 would not be utilized due to the estimated future tax deductions from the exercise of stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2005.
As a result, the Company recorded a valuation allowance of $47,000 for the year ended December 31, 2005 relating to state tax loss
carryforwards due to the uncertainty in realization prior to expiration.

Activity during the year ended December 31, 2004

The Company concluded that it was more likely than not that tax loss carryforwards that expire in 2005 and other tax credits that expire prior to
2010 would not be utilized due to the estimated future tax deductions from the exercise of stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2004.
As a result, the Company recorded a valuation allowance of $183,000 for the year ended December 31, 2004. The Company also recorded a
valuation allowance of $43,000 relating to 2004 foreign net operating losses that are subject to uncertainty regarding utilization.

Net operating loss carryforward limitations

Under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, certain stock transactions which significantly change ownership, including the sale of
stock and the granting of options to purchase stock, could limit the amount of net operating loss carryforwards that may be utilized on an annual
basis to offset taxable income in future periods. Management does not believe there have been any past changes in ownership, as defined by
Section 382, which could materially impact the Company�s ability to utilize loss carryforwards.

8.  Employee benefit plan

The Company maintains the Vital Images, Inc. Salary Savings Plan (the �Plan�), which is intended to qualify under Section 401(k) of the Internal
Revenue Code, as amended. The Plan covers substantially all employees. Each employee may elect to contribute to the Plan through payroll
deductions up to 100% of his or her salary, subject to certain limitations. At the discretion of the Board of Directors, the Company may make
matching contributions equal to a percentage of the salary reduction contributions or other discretionary amounts. The Company paid $214,000,
$103,000 and $44,000 in matching contributions in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

9.  Major customers and geographic data

Customers accounting for more than 10% of the Company�s total revenue are as follows (in thousands):

For the Year Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004

Toshiba Medical Systems Corporation $ 28,879 $ 24,307 $ 18,130
Percentage of total revenue 41 % 47 % 50 %

McKesson Corporation $ 7,314 $ 3,800 $ 744
Percentage of total revenue 10 % 7 % 2 %
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As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, Toshiba Medical Systems Corporation accounted for 41% and 36% of accounts receivable, respectively. As
of December 31, 2006 and 2005, McKesson Corporation accounted for 14% and 7% of accounts receivable, respectively.

All significant long-lived assets of the Company are located in the United States.

Export revenue accounted for 15%, 16% and 17% of total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
Substantially all of the Company�s export sales are negotiated, invoiced and paid in U.S. dollars.

Sales by geographic area are summarized as follows (in thousands):

For the Year Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004

United States $ 59,640 $ 43,552 $ 30,032
Europe 5,713 4,461 3,692
Asia-Pacific 2,520 2,277 1,320
Other foreign countries 2,639 1,427 1,078

$ 70,512 $ 51,717 $ 36,122
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10. Selected quarterly financial data (unaudited)

The following summarized unaudited quarterly financial data has been prepared using the financial statements of the Company (in thousands,
except per share data):

First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter

2006
Total revenue $ 15,796 $ 16,913 $ 17,781 $ 20,022
Gross profit $ 12,592 $ 13,414 $ 14,311 $ 15,984
Net income $ 1,427 $ 1,247 $ 1,624 $ 2,284
Earnings per share � basic (2) $ 0.11 $ 0.09 $ 0.12 $ 0.15
Earnings per share � diluted (2) $ 0.10 $ 0.09 $ 0.12 $ 0.15

2005
Total revenue $ 11,325 $ 11,948 $ 13,160 $ 15,284
Gross profit $ 8,653 $ 8,918 $ 10,264 $ 12,322
Net income $ 1,023 (1)$ 734 $ 1,621 $ 2,421
Earnings per share � basic (2) $ 0.08 $ 0.06 $ 0.13 $ 0.19
Earnings per share � diluted (2) $ 0.08 $ 0.06 $ 0.12 $ 0.18
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(1)  Includes a loss on operating lease of $493 related to the Company�s facility move in the first quarter of 2005.

(2)  The sum of the quarterly earnings per share may not equal the annual earnings per share due to changes in
average shares outstanding.
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